4.

The Petition arises as a result of a variety of circumstances, as described below,

which require NATC to restructure in order that it can proceed as a viable business entity going
forward.

5.

Due to many factors, including, among others, the current commodity pricing

environment, the challenging capital market in the mining and metals space, the anticipated
increase by the Mackenzie Valley Land and Water Board ("Water Board") of the amount of
security NATC must post for reclamation of its operating mine, and NATC's depressed share
price, the value of the Petitioner's assets, if disposed of in a forced sale environment, would
likely be less than the total of its liabilities. Moreover, NATC is suffering from a lack of liquidity
and capital and is unable to meet its liabilities generally as they become due without the
benefit of a filing under the CCAA. As such, NATC is insolvent.

6.

I believe that restructuring under the protection of the CCAA will have the effect

of improving the long term financial prospects of NATC, while preserving value for the
stakeholders generally and permitting NATC to continue to operate on a going concern basis
during and beyond the period of creditor protection. The restructuring initiatives contemplated
by the Petitioner are discussed in detail below.
THE PETITIONER

7.

NATC is a federal corporation incorporated under the Canada Business

Corporations Act, as amended, R.S.C. 1985 c. C-44 (the "CBCA").

8.

NATC's head office is located at #1640-1188 West Georgia Street, P.O. Box #19,

Vancouver, British Columbia.

9.

Corporate operations are directed and controlled out of the head office in

Vancouver, British Columbia, including banking, corporate accounting, corporate finance,
shareholder relations, taxation, audit and business strategy.

10.

NATC is extra-provincially registered in British Columbia and extra-territorially

registered in the Yukon and the Northwest Territories.
11.

NATC has no active subsidiaries.
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COMPANY HISTORY

12.

The original predecessor company to NATC was incorporated pursuant to the

Company Act (British Columbia) in October 1979 and in May 1996, by Certificate of

Continuance pursuant to the CBCA, changed its name to North American Tungsten Corporation
Ltd. and altered its capital such that the authorized capital of NATC consists of an unlimited
number of common shares. NATC is a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta and is
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange and traded under the symbol "NTC".
13.

NATC is a public company engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development,

mining and milling of minerals. Its business is presently concentrated in North America.
14.

NATC is focused on the tungsten business, including the exploration, mine

development and production of tungsten concentrate through the mining and milling of ore.
15.

NATC has one mine in production-the 100% owned "Cantung Mine" located in

the Northwest Territories.

The Cantung Mine is located in along the Flat River in the

southwestern Northwest Territories close to the Yukon border, approximately 300 km by road
northeast of Watson Lake, Yukon.
16.

NATC's key development property is the "Mactung Property" located on the

border of the Yukon Territory and the Northwest Territories. The Mactung Property is located
in the Selwyn Mountain Range and covers the area around Mt. Allan, approximately eight
kilometres northwest of MacMillan Pass. The nearest settlement accessible by road, Ross River,
is 250 km to the southwest along the Canol Road. The property is located at latitude 63217'N
and longitude 130210'W, and the Cantung Mine is approximately 160 km to the southeast.
17.

NATC's principal product is tungsten concentrate. Tungsten concentrate is then

refined into Ammonium Paratungstate ("APT") by NATC's customers.

18.

Tungsten is a critical raw material component used in the production of a

number of materials and products, including hard metals, alloy steels, mill products, chemicals,
catalysts and pigments. Tungsten metal has an extremely high melting point and is extremely
dense. Tungsten products are used in heavy engineering industries to bore automotive engine
blocks, manufacture airplane parts, drill for oil, and mine coal. It is most often used in high
speed cutting tools and also is used in computers to draw heat away from microchips. The
output from Cantung is one of the world's few alternative sources of supply of this metal
outside China, where 70% of world tungsten is produced.
3
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19.

NATC's

sales

of tungsten

concentrate

during

September 30, 2014 were 263,872 metric tonne units ("MTUs").

the

fiscal

year

ended

NATC also sold 536,929

pounds of copper in the last fiscal year.
SHARE CAPITAL AND CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

20.

All of NATC's common shares rank equally as to voting rights, participation and

distribution of its assets upon liquidation, dissolution, winding up and entitlement to dividends.
The holders of common shares are entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders
and to attend and vote the shares at the meeting. Each common share carries with it the right
to one vote.
21.

The authorized capital of NATC consists of an unlimited number of common

shares without par value, of which 238,123,058 shares were issued and outstanding as of
May 28, 2015. NATC shares are currently trading at $0.035 per share for an overall market
capitalization of approximately $8,334,307.
22.

Also issued and outstanding as of May 28, 2015, are 2,250,000 share options

and 2,000,000 warrants. The share options are held by the Petitioner's employees, directors,·
and consultants.
23.

NATC's major shareholders include Ronald Erickson and Kurt Heikkila, who

collectively hold 42,597,902 (17.9% of the presently issued and outstanding share capital), and
Kevin Douglas, trustee of K&M Douglas Trust, who holds 33,589,500 (14.1% of the presently
issued and outstanding share capital).
NATC's insiders are as follows:

24.

Insiders

Shares {direct and indirect holdings)

Ronald Erickson

42,597,902

Kurt Heikkila

42,597,902

Allan Krasnick

252,000

Dennis M. Lindahl

1,540,450

Bryce Porter

Total

30,000

44,420,352
(18.7% of the presently issued and outstanding
share capital)
4
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS
NATC acquires Tungsten assets from Aur Resources Inc.

25.

In October 1997, NATC acquired a 100% interest in the tungsten assets of both

Aur Resources Inc. ("Aur"), and 11126 Yukon Ltd. ("Yukon"), a private, wholly owned subsidiary
of Aur, by way of a July 1997 purchase agreement (the "1997 Agreement"). These assets
included the Cantung mine and adjacent property and the Mactung property. Through these
two properties, NATC controls a significant percentage of the world's known high-grade
tungsten reserves and resources and the western world's largest high-grade tungsten resource.
26.

The consideration for the acquisition of the Aur and Yukon tungsten assets

included the following:
(a)

the issuance to Aur of 2,361,111 common shares in the capital stock of NATC
and 1,000,000 special warrants entitling Aur to acquire, without further
consideration, one further common share in the capital stock of NATC for each
special warrant held;

(b)

the issuance of 277,778 common shares of NATC to Yukon;

(c)

the payment of $127,438 in cash to Aur; and

(d)

the reservation of the following net smelter returns royalties ("NSR"):
(i)

to Yukon, a 3% NSR over the Cantung Mine, with an escalation clause to
4%; and

(ii)
(e)

to Aur, a 4% NSR in respect of the Mactung Property; and

an indemnity to Aur respecting reclamation claims pertaining to the Cantung
property.

27.

Aur was subsequently acquired by Teck Cominco Inc. ("Teck"), and the rights of

Aur and Yukon under the 1997 purchase agreement were assumed by Teck. In January 2005,
NATC entered into amendment agreements with Teck in respect of the royalty payable on both
the Cantung and Mactung properties. NATC has exercised its option under those agreements
to reduce the royalty owed to Teck in respect of production at Cantung to a 1% NSR. NATC has
5
15368071_111NATDOCS

the right, which it has yet to exercise, to reduce Teck's royalty in respect of production at
Mactung to a 2% NSR.

Cantung Mine Operations
28.

The Cantung Mine and adjacent property consists of seven surface mineral

leases and 11 contiguous unpatented claims covering 15,294 acres. The Mine is located in the
District of MacKenzie and situated in a narrow valley on the Flat River between the McKenzie
and Logan Mountains in the southwestern corner of the Northwest Territories.
29.

Operations at Cantung include both surface and underground mining, a mill,

concentrator and tailings ponds.
30.

After a significant increase in world supply of tungsten, due largely from

increased production in China, prices fell, undermining the viability of Cantung's continuing
operation. As a result, the mine was placed in care and maintenance in 1986, remaining in that
state until its reopening in 2002 under new ownership and management and with the support
of its customers. The Cantung Mine was preserved in conditions designed to ensure its rapid
re-start in the event that world prices for tungsten reached the level that would warrant the
commencement of commercial mining activity.
31.

In 2001, in anticipation of restarting the Cantung mine, NATC entered into loan

and supply agreements with AB Sandvik Co rom ant ("Sandvik AB") a Swedish company based in
Stockholm, Sandvik Canada Inc. ("Sandvik Canada"), a Canadian subsidiary of Sandvik AB, and
Osram Sylvannia Products, Inc. ("Osram"), a company based in Pennsylvania, USA. Under the
loan agreements, Sandvik Canada and Osram advanced $5 million to NATC to finance the startup of mining activities at the Cantung mine, which amount was secured against NATC's assets.
Under the supply agreements, Osram and Sandvik AB agreed to purchase all of the tungsten
concentrate produced from Cantung, and to participate in the future development of Mactung.
32.

In January 2002, the Cantung Mine reopened.

Earlier CCAA Filing
33.

In December 2003 Osram and Sandvik purported to terminate their supply

agreements with NATC, and Osram and Sandvik Canada made demand for the balance owing
under their loan agreements, necessitating that NATC obtain CCAA protection. On December
11, 2003, NATC applied for, and was granted, a stay under the CCAA. On April 23, 2004, NATC
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announced that it had signed a settlement agreement with Sandvik Canada and Osram,
whereby NATC agreed to pay US$300,000 in cash and a quantity of tungsten concentrate with
a deemed value of US$600,000 from the re-commencement of production at the Cantung
mine. NATC filed a Plan of Arrangement and Compromise with the Court, which was approved
by the creditors and sanctioned by the Court on November 22, 2004. As of March 31, 2005,
NATC had successfully met all conditions precedent of the Plan and emerged from creditor
protection under the CCAA.
Post-CCAA
34.

With a stronger balance sheet and its restructuring complete, the Cantung Mine

reopened in late 2005, and has operated consistently since then, except for a brief closure
from October 15, 2009, through October 7, 2010, when the Cantung Mine was placed on a care
and maintenance program during a time of increased product inventory and declining tungsten
prices. More recently, NATe's efforts at the Cantung mine have been directed at exploiting
additional ore resources that are located below the 3700 level in an area of the mine known as
the West Extension. Over the years, the Cantung Mine has provided employment, a supply
chain and significant economic activity to the area.
35.

In November 2014, NATC released the results of a National Instrument 43-101

Compliant Technical Report on the Cantung Mine (the "Cantung Report"). The Cantung Report
shows probable mineral reserves that support a mine life beyond 2017. A press release dated
November 3, 2014, summarizing the findings of the Cantung Report is attached hereto as
Exhibit "A".
36.

In the fiscal year ending September 30, 2013, the Cantung Mine produced

287,032 MTUs of tungsten concentrate; in the fiscal year ending September 30, 2014 it
produced 274,063 MTUs of tungsten concentrate; and in the six months since the fiscal year
ending 2014 (to March 31, 2015), it produced 154,420 MTUs oftungsten concentrate.
Reclamation Security for the Cantung Mine
37.

Projected remediation expenses at the Cantung Mine (the "Reclamation

Obligations") are secured under a water license (as subsequently amended, the "Water
License"), a land use permit, and reclamation security agreement (as amended, the "RSA")
between NATC and Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the Ministry
of Indian Affairs and Northern Development ("OlAND").
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38.

In February 2014, NATC was informed by its counsel that, in June 25, 2013,

DIAND and the Government of the Northwest Te·rritories as represented by the Minister of
Environment and Natural Resources ("GNWT") entered into the Northwest Territories Lands
and Resources Devolution Agreement (the "Devolution Agreement"), which had the effect of
transferring jurisdiction over the lands on which the Cantung Mine is located to GNWT
effective on April 1, 2014. The Devolution Agreement required that DIAND (since renamed
Aboriginal and Northern Affairs Canada ("ANDC")) transfer all security held in relation to
existing interests, including the Cantung mine, to GNWT with effect on April1, 2014.
39.

On March 28, 2014, NATC, ANDC and GNWT entered into an assignment,

assumption and amendment agreement effective as of April 1, 2014 (the "Assignment"), by
which all of the rights, benefits, obligations, covenants and liabilities of ANDC in relation to the
RSA were assigned to GNWT, including promissory notes from NATC held as security under the
RSA and subordination agreements with certain of NATC's secured creditors. In conjunction
with the Assignment, NATC and Computershare Trust Company of Canada ("Computershare")
entered into an amended and restated trust indenture (the "Indenture").
40.

The payment and performance of NATC's obligations under the RSA and Water

License are secured by a continuing security interest in all present and after-acquired property,
assets and undertakings of NATC relating to the Mactung Property. The security interest does
not extend to the Cantung Mine.
41.

The RSA provides for quarterly posts or deposits of cash or letters of credit into

a qualifying environmental trust for the Cantung Mine (the "RST"). NATC and Computershare
entered into a RST indenture dated October 21, 2011, as required by the RSA. As of March 31,
2015, NATC has posted $6.2 million in cash and $5.5 million in secured promissory notes, for a
total of $11.7 million to further secure performance of the Reclamation Obligations.
42.

The current Water License expires on January 29, 2016.

43.

In March 2014, the Petitioner submitted an application to GNWT and the Water

Board to amend the Water License to implement a dry stack tailings management system, as
part of the Petitioner's long term tailings plan. The application process has involved public
hearings, considerable scientific and engineering research and design, correspondence
between GNWT and NATC, as well as between the Water Board and NATC, and extensive
consultations with various stakeholders, including engagement and accommodation with the
area's First Nations.
8
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44.

Since late 2014, NATC has spent considerable time and energy working with the

Water Board and GNWT with respect to an estimate of the security to be posted by NATC in
respect of the Reclamation Obligations, with a view to seeking a commercially reasonable
resolution or compromise in respect of the estimate.
45.

On March 2, 2015, the Water Board issued its recommendation to the GNWT for

approval of the requested amendment to the Water License and determined that, within 90
days of the GNWT's approving the Water License, NATC must post reclamation security of
$29.95 million, rising to $30.95 million as certain works at the mine are commissioned.
Pursuant to the Waters Act {NWT}, the GNWT had 45 days from the date the Water Board's
recommendation was referred to it to accept or reject the amended Water License. After the
amended Water License is signed, NATC would have 90 days to negotiate the form of and post
acceptable security.
46.

On March 26, 2015, NATC wrote to GNWT to request that GNWT take the

maximum amount of time to approve the Water License to enable the Petitioner time to
present to GNWT a reasoned case to reduce the amount of security required, which request
was supported by a letter from the Nahanni Butte Dene Band, the community in the Dehcho
First Nation which is the closest downriver from the Cantung Mine.
47.

On April28, 2015, GNWT wrote to NATC to inform the Petitioner that GNWT

would invoke the Waters Act (NWT) to extend the timeline for consideration of the
amendment to the Water License to June 13, 2015.
48.

The proposed increase in the GNWT's required security from the current

$11.7 million to the ultimate $30.95 million has negatively impacted the Petitioner's ability to
capitalize its business and has the potential to impede value realizable from the Mactung
Property. Moreover, the Petitioner believes this increase is not necessary and that security of
$15.2 million would be adequate to protect GNWT fully from any liability in respect of the
Reclamation Obligations.
49.

Because the Cantung Mine was in existence when the federal government's

"Mine Site Reclamation Policy for the Northwest Territories" was adopted, the Cantung Mine
operates under the "Transitional Rules for Existing Mines" (the "Policy"). The Policy enables
NATC to negotiate the form, amount, and scheduling of security required of NATC but this is
subject to negotiations with the GNWT, to which the Policy was devolved on April1, 2014.
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so.

NATC is committed to working with GNWT to develop an agreed-upon plan

regarding reclamation security in an effort to minimize the potential negative effects on NATe's
business and viability.
The Mactung Property
51.

The Mactung Property is located in the Selwyn Mountain Range and consists of a

combination of leases and claims located in Yukon and Northwest Territories. The property
consists of 113 mineral claims and 38 mining leases in Yukon and eight mining leases in the
Northwest Territories, and covers 4,541.6 ha. Mactung was originally staked in 1962, following
the discovery of scheelite-bearing float in the headwaters of the Cirque Lake Valley.
52.

In February 2009, NATC released the results of a National Instrument 43-101

Compliant Technical Report on the Mactung Property. NATC then continued to progress the
Mactung Property and has made considerable strides over the last few years. In particular, in
September 2014, the federal and Yukon governments issued Decision Documents pursuant to
the Yukon Environmental and Sacia-econamic Assessment Act confirming the determination by
the Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Board, made after a six-year public
process, that the Mactung Project be allowed to proceed without further review.
53.

Feasibility work was also done and according to an internal seeping study on the

Mactung Property dated May 14, 2015, the capital expenditure estimate to bring the Mactung
Property to pre-production is US$229.7 million plus a contingency of US$23.0 million. A further
US$106.3 million plus a US$10.6 million contingency would be required to sustain operations.
54. ·

NATC is currently assessing approaches to marketing and/or developing the

Mactung Property, which includes discussions with local First Nations. At current tungsten
prices, however, further outlays by NATC on the Mactung Property are unrealistic, particularly
given NATe's lack of capital and liquidity.
Supply Agreements and Customer Financing
55.

Presently, approximately 100% of the tungsten produced at the Cantung mine is

sold to two companies: Global Tungsten & Powders Corp. ("GTP") and Wolfram Bergbau und
Hutten AG ("WBH", and together with GTP, the "Customers").
56.

In December 2013, NATC signed a three-year supply agreement with GTP (the

"GTP Supply Agreement"), whereby GTP agreed to purchase approximately 320,000 MTUs of
W0 3 concentrate, including both G1 high grade concentrate and mid grade flotation
10
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concentrate, in equal monthly installments.

The GTP Supply Agreement will expire on

February 1, 2017, subject to two one-year automatic extensions (in the absence of notice).
NATC is paid for shipments to GTP five days after shipment by way of a factoring agreement
with The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC. In addition, GTP had advanced US $2.2 million.
57.

On December 19, 2013, GTP and NATC also entered into a loan agreement (the

"GTP Loan Agreement") and a security agreement (the "GTP Security Agreement"), which

provide for a non-revolving US$2.5 million loan, rolling in an existing US$2.2 million advance,
for a combined loan of US$4.7 million (the "GTP Loan"), secured by a charge on the Mactung
Property. The GTP Loan matures on December 31, 2018, and bears interest of 3.0% per annum.
58.

In February 2014, NATC signed a three-year supply agreement with WBH (the

"WBH Supply Agreement"), whereby WBH agreed to purchase a minimum of 320,000 MTUs of

W0 3 concentrate, including both G1 concentrate and mid grade flotation concentrate, in equal
quarterly installments. The WBH Supply Agreement will expire on February 1, 2017, subject to
two one-year automatic extensions (in the absence of notice). WBH has advanced $3.0 million,
to ensure that sufficient funds have been advanced to NATC to pay for the estimated value of
product in shipment or transit to WBH at any given time, and pays NATC for additional product
as it leaves the mine gate.
59.

Also in February 2014, WBH and NATC entered into a loan agreement (the

"WBH Loan Agreement") and a security agreement (the "WBH Security Agreement"), which

provide for a non-revolving US$2.5 million loan (the "WBH Loan"), secured by a charge on the
Mactung Property. The WBH Loan matures on March 31, 2017, and bears interest of 3.0% per
annum.

60.

The Customers entered into an intercreditor agreement dated February 20,

2014 (the "Customer lntercreditor Agreement"), pursuant to which the Customers agreed that
NATe's indebtedness to, and the security interests of, each of the Customers ranks pari passu,
and the Customers agreed to share any proceeds of enforcing on their collateral.
61.

The Customers have in the past been very supportive of NATC and have

committed to purchasing all of NATC's production in 2015.
Other Financing Arrangements

62.

On December 31, 2013, NATC entered into subscription agreements (the

"Subscription Agreements") with various parties (the "Debentureholders") to recapitalize
II
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US$11 million of indebtedness owing by NATC into an aggregate principal amount of
US$11 million of debentures (the "Debentures"). The Debentures have a two-year term and
bear interest at a rate of 11% per annum. Except in respect of a principal amount of
US$2 million of Debentures issued to certain insiders (the "Nonconvertible Debentures"), the
principal amount of the Debentures are convertible into common shares of the Petitioner.
Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreements, the interest rate on the Nonconvertible
Debentures is 18% per annum.

63.

The Debentures are secured by a general security interest in the Petitioner's

assets (the "Debenture GSA"). Pursuant to various priority agreements, the security interests
of the Debentureholders granted by the Debenture GSA are subordinated to (a) the security
interests of GNWT in respect of the Reclamation Obligations, and (b) the Customers to a
maximum amount of US$2.5 million plus Interest and costs per Customer, for a total of
US$5.0 million plus interest and costs.

64.

On May 15, 2014, Callidus Capital Corporation ("Callidus") and NATC entered

into a loan agreement (the "Callidus Loan Agreement"), which provided for a demand nonrevolving loan for $11 million (the "Callidus Loan"). The Cal lid us Loan was for a term of one
year after the first advance, repayable on demand, bearing interest at a rate of 18% per
annum, with interest payable monthly, and monthly principal repayments of $150,000
commencing July 31,2014.

65.

Also on May 15, 2014, NATC executed a general security agreement in favour of

Callidus (the "Callidus GSA"), granting security in all or substantially all the Petitioner's present
and after-acquired property other than any present or after-acquired property, assets and
undertakings related to the Mactung Property. As such, Callidus' security does not extend to
the Mactung Property.

66.

$5.8 million of the proceeds from the Callidus Loan were used to repay the

outstanding balance of the Petitioner's operating loan facility with HSBC Bank Canada, which
has been cancelled. $1.0 million of the proceeds from the Cal lid us Loan were used to repay
certain equipment loans and capital leases and the remainder was available for working capital
and investment in capital projects.

67.

In conjunction with the Callidus Loan, NATC, Callidus and the Debentureholders

entered into priority agreements granting Callidus priority over the collateral described in the
Callidus GSA, postponing all payments to the Debentureholders (except interest), and standing
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still all enforcement rights of the Debentureholders for so long as the Petitioner is indebted to
Cal lid us.

68.

On July 2, 2014, NATC completed a US$12.0 million loan (the "Queenwood II

Loan") with Queenwood Capital Partners II LLC ("Queenwood II"), to replace its $12.0 million

working capital loan facility with HSBC. Ronald Erickson and Kurt Heikkila collectively own all
the issued and outstanding units of Queenwood II. The Queenwood II Loan is evidenced by a
promissory note (the "Queenwood II Note"), with a maturity date of October 1, 2015. Interest
is payable on the Queenwood II Loan at the rate of 12% per annum, payable by the Petitioner
quarterly in arrears, with any remaining accrued and unpaid interest payable at maturity.

69.

Also on July 2, 2014, Queenwood II and NATC entered into a general security

agreement (the "Queenwood II GSA") to secure the obligations of NATC pursuant to the
Queenwood II Loan and Queenwood II Note. The Queenwood II GSA granted a security interest
in all NATe's presently owned and after-acquired personal property and a floating charge on
real property.

70.

In conjunction with the Queenwood II Loan, NATC, Callidus and Queenwood II

entered into a priority agreement granting Cal lid us priority over the collateral described in the
Callidus GSA, postponing all payments to Queenwood II (except interest), and standing still all
enforcement rights of Queenwood II for so long as the Petitioner is indebted to Callidus.

71.

On October 24, 2014, Queenwood II and NATC finalized the terms of further

borrowing of up to US$3 million (the "Additional Queenwood II Loan"), payable on demand,
evidenced by a grid promissory note (the "Queenwood II Grid Note", and together with the
Queenwood II Note, the "Queenwood II Notes"), with a first advance of US$1 million. Interest
is payable on the Additional Queenwood II Loan at the rate of 18% per annum, payable by the
Petitioner quarterly' in arrears, with any remaining accrued and unpaid interest payable at
maturity.

72.

Also on October 24, 2014, Queenwood II and NATC entered into a general

security agreement (the "Second Queenwood II GSA") to secure the obligations of NATC
pursuant to the Additional Queenwood II Loan and Queenwood II Grid Note. The Second
Queenwood II GSA granted a security interest in all. NATe's presently owned and after-acquired
personal property and a floating charge on real property.

73.

On December 30, 2014, NATC and Callidus entered into an amendment of the

Callidus Loan Agreement (the "Callidus First Amending Agreement"), which provided for
13
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additional proceeds of $3.65 million, a deferred fee of approximately $154,000, and an
· extension of the repayment date for the Callidus Loan balance to May 31, 2016. To satisfy a
condition of the Callidus First Amending Agreement, Queenwood II advanced the remaining
US$2 million available under the Queen wood II Grid Note. The Cal lid us Loan remains repayable
on demand and bears interest at 18% per annum with interest payable monthly, with monthly
princi'pal repayments of $150,000 to continue, with the remaining balance due at maturity. The
Callidus Loan continues to be secured by the Callidus GSA and the collateral described therein.
Further to the Callidus First Amending Agreement, the $11 million demand promissory note
previously executed was canceled, and the Petitioner executed a replacement demand
promissory note in the amount of $13.9 million. Of the additional proceeds, $2.0 million was
utilized to repay a note payable to a mining contractor, with the remaining proceeds to be
used for capital projects and working capital.
NATC has also entered into a number of equipment loan agreements and

74.

equipment leases in respect of equipment used at the Cantung Mine (collectively, the

"Equipment Leases") with counterparties who have registered financing statements in the
Personal Property Registries of British Columbia, the Yukon Territory and the Northwest
Territories in respect of same.
On February 3, 2015, the NATC entered into a security agreement with Finning

75.

(Canada) A Division of Finning International Inc. ("Finning") to secure the purchase of a 2013
Caterpillar Genset Model No. CAT 351GB ("Genset") as well as to secure other amounts owing
to Finning on account of services provided by Finning to the Petitioner.
The Petitioner believes its outstanding secured obligations have the following

76.
priorities:
No.

Secured Party

Amount/Obligation

Collateral

1.

Equipment
Leases

Financing lease amounts

Purchase money security interests in
specific serial numbered goods

2.

Government of
the Northwest
Territories

Reclamation Obligations
(currently under negotiation)

All present and after acquired property
related to Mactung

3.

Global Tungsten
Up to US$2.5 million plus
& Powders, pari
interest and costs
passu with WBH ·

All present and after acquired property
related to Mactung
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No.

Secured Party

4 ..

Wolfram Bergbau
und Hutten, pari
passu with GTP

Up to US$2.5 million plus
interest and costs

All present and after acquired property
related to Mactung

5.

Callidus Capital
Corporation

$13.1 million

All present and after acquired property not
related to Mactung

6.

Debentureholders

US$11.0 million

All present and after acquired property of
NATC

7.

Queenwood II

US$15.0 million

All present and after acquired property of
NATC

8.

Global Tungsten
& Powders, pari
passu with WBH

Remainder of debt

All present and after acquired property
related to Mactung

9.

Wolfram Bergbau
und HUtten, pari
passu with GTP

Remainder of debt

All present and after acquired property
related to Mactung

Finning
International Inc.

Outstanding indebtedness,
except for amount secured
as purchase money security
interest which is senior in
priority

All present and after acquired property of
NATC

10.

AmounVObligation

Collateral

KEY SUPPLIERS

77.

The operations of NATC cannot be maintained without several key providers of

supplies and services, who can generally be described as:
(a) reagent and chemical suppliers;
(b) fuel suppliers;
(c) food and janitorial service providers;
(d) transport of employees to site providers;
(e) utilities;
(f) transportation/freight providers; and
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(g) explosive and other mining materials suppliers.
78.

NATC believes that a number of its key suppliers may suffer serious financial

hardship if they do not receive timely payments.

79.

NATC is working to identify the suppliers that are key to the business and to its

continued operations. In doing so, NATC will consider various factors including the importance
of the supplier to NATC's operation, the nature of the goods or services supplied and whether
there are alternative supply sources, the ability of the supplier to remain in business or
continue normal operations if not paid, the ability and the likelihood that the supplier may
delay or otherwise restrict supply and services in the event of non-payment, the volume of the
goods or services supplied, potential for disruption to NATC's operation if the supplier delays or
fails to expedite supply of goods or services pursuant to their existing contracts, the ability of
the supplier to maintain a possessory lien on the property and the amount NATC currently
owes to each supplier.
80.

It is my understanding that a stay of proceedings may require suppliers to

continue supplying goods and services but will not allow NATC to require expedited supply
from its suppliers or require suppliers to extend credit. Furthermore, it is my understanding
that without approval from the Court, amounts owing to suppliers in respect of pre-filing debt
cannot be paid.
81.

As a result of these unique circumstances, NATC is seeking approval ofthe Court

to allow it to pay certain pre-filing amounts but only with Monitor approval. It is likely that a
number of NATC's key suppliers are in a fragile financial state and that any stay of proceedings
that results in these suppliers not being paid certain outstanding pre-filing amounts could
result in these suppliers suffering financial distress and an inability to supply even if ordered to
do so.

82.

NATC relies on an extensive interwoven network of suppliers and service

providers to ensure the continuance of its business. A number of these suppliers may insist
upon payment of pre-filing amounts owing from the Petitioner or, if unpaid, will likely require a
continuing supply of cash on delivery terms to continue to supply, which, owing to the nature
of the business, are either extremely cumbersome or simply not tenable.

83.

For a number of suppliers, given the quantity of product and the general

delivery process, cash-on-delivery arrangements may be unworkable. The amounts to be paid
to the suppliers can often only be established once the product has arrived at the mine. The
16
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payment of certain pre-filing amounts (if consented to by the Monitor) will permit NATC to
make arrangements with the suppliers that will ensure the continuation of supply. The
Petitioner intends to rely upon those suppliers with which it had contracts that were entered
into prior to the filing of the Petition.

84.

NATC requires the ability to pay certain pre and post-filing payables to those

suppliers it considers essential as confirmed by the Monitor. In the event the Petitioner.
encounters supplier issues post filing, the Petitioner, with the approval of the Monitor, may
enter into arrangements with other suppliers which could involve some pre-filing payables. The
Petitioner is aware of the potential prejudice to other creditors for making these payments and
intends to keep them to a required minimal level. However, any such payments would be
specifically intended to maintain basic operations.
CASH MANAGEMENT

85.

NATC requires the collection and movement of funds through a number of bank

accounts (the "Accounts") held at HSBC Bank Canada ("HSBC"). All ofthe revenue generated by
the Cantung Mine is deposited into the Accounts.

86.

NATC holds a credit card with HSBC. $25,000 is currently prepaid to secure

charges made against this account.
PETITIONER'S FINANCIAL PROBLEMS

87.

NATC is unable to meet its financial obligations as they become due and is

accordingly insolvent. NATC's insolvency has been caused by a number of factors discussed
above and including the continuation of low prevailing market prices of APT, high debt service
payments, including some payments denominated in US dollars, insufficient capitalization, and
recent operational issues, including mining of lower grade ore. At the same time, supply and
infrastructure costs in the Canadian sub-Arctic remain high.

88.

Although NATC has implemented production and cost improvement initiatives,

low market prices, lower grades of ore, and recent operational interruptions have resulted in
insufficient free cash flow to service NATC's secured debt and on-going and further capital
expenditures.

89.

Current problems in credit markets and a general deterioration of global

economic conditions have led to a weakening of commodity prices for metals and related
products. There is no market to hedge APT or tungsten concentrate prices, and as a result
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NATC's results of operations are subject to significant market fluctuations that are beyond its
control. Since September 2014, the price of European mid APT has dropped from US$350 per
MTU to US$242 per MTU, or by approximately 30%.
90.

The general deterioration of global economic conditions, particularly in relation

to access to credit in recent years, has also limited the availability of funds and increased the
cost of obtaining capital. NATC's market capitalization has been significantly reduced and it
anticipates that if its reclamation liability to GNWT is materially increased, such will further
negatively impact NATe's liquidity and its ability to raise the capital required to execute its
business plans.
91.

Through debt investments, Ronald Erickson, Kurt Heikkila, Queenwood II, and a

number of the Debentureholders have funded a significant amount of the Petitioner's
operations over the last several years. However, these supporters of the Petitioner are unlikely
to continue funding NATC's operations going forward, particularly given current APT prices. As
such, NATC needs to find a new solution to ensure its long-term viability.
CURRENT FINANCIAL SITUATION

92.

As of May 31, 2015, in addition to its normal trade payables, NATC is indebted as

follows:
(a) $13,145,208 to Callidus in respect of Callidus Loan;
(b) US $6,612,500 to the Customers in respect of secured loans from the Customers;
(c) US $3,000,000 to the Customers in respect of advance payments;
(d) US $11,000,000 to the Debentureholders in respect of the Debentures;
(e) US $15,000,000 to Queenwood II in respect of the Queenwood II Loan and the
Additional Queenwood II Loan;
(f) $2,378,000 to equipment lessors in respect of Equipment Leases; and
(g) $5,116,000 to Teck due in respect of accrued royalty payments.
93.

Under the current Water License and RSA, NATC has posted cash security of

$6.2 million and has signed promissory notes of $5,500,000 related to the potential
reclamation of the Cantung Mine. NATC previously retained an independent engineering firm
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review the estimated reclamation costs, which indicated reclamation costs in the ordinary
course of business would be approximately $10 million.

However, depending on the

agreement reached by NATC and GNWT as to how additional security owing under the
Amended Water License must be posted, this promissory note amount could significantly
increase to as much as approximately $25,000,000.
94.

Finally, as of April 30, 2015, NATC owes approximately $14,865,000 in general

unsecured payables.
95.

Ofthis amount, normal trade payables total approximately $7,454,000.

1

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

96.

The Petitioner's assets consist primarily of very little cash, accounts receivable,

pre-paid expenses, tungsten ore and concentrate inventory, supply inventory, mining
equipment and buildings, and mineral interests at Cantung and Mactung consisting of claims,
licenses, leases and mining permits.
97.

The audited consolidated balance sheet for NATC for the year ended

September 30, 2014 indicates total assets holding a value of approximately $72.0 million and
total liabilities of approximately $75.0 million.

The audited consolidated balance sheet for

NATC for the year ended September 30, 2014 and the Quarterly Financial Reports through to
March 31, 2015 are attached to this Affidavit as Exhibits "B" and "C" respectively.
98.

The estimated book value of NATC's property, plant and equipment at the

present time is approximately $27.9 million.
99.

In accordance with the Callidus First Amending Agreement, NATC obtained a

confidential liquidation appraisal of the principal equipment over which Callidus has a first
priority charge that could be sold to repay the Callidus Loan and other amounts owed by the
Petitioner. Based on this appraisal and the value of other equipment and assets of the
Petitioner, NATC expects that, although Callidus would likely be paid in full, other secured
creditors would likely recover significantly less in a forced liquidation scenario as opposed to a
going-concern or managed wind-down scenario, and the unsecured creditors would likely
receive no recovery if NATC liquidated. NATC believes that the value of NATC's assets on a
going-concern basis is higher than the liquidation value.

1 Payables

due in US dollars have been converted at 12 to I
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OPERATIONAL RESULTS

100.

For the second fiscal quarter of 2015, Cantung produced 70,871 MTUs of

tungsten concentrate, compared with 89,116 MTUs for the same period the year prior ended
March 31, 2014. This decrease in production is a result of lower mill feed grade and mill
interruptions due to unexpected equipment failures. For the first quarter of 2015, sales
revenues were approximately $23.5 million, as a result of sales of 78,817 MTUs of tungsten
concentrate and 183,792 pounds of copper, compared with $23.1 million from sales of 69,934
MTUs of concentrates and 168,418 pounds of copper for the three months ended March 31,
2014.
101.

Mine operating costs at Cantung were $18.1 million for the second fiscal quarter

of 2015, compared to $19.4 million for the comparable quarter of 2014.
102.

Finally, the net loss for the second fiscal quarter of 2015 was $6.4 million

compared to a net income of $2.5 million for the comparable quarter of 2014.
TEMPORARY LAYOFFS

103.

On June 1, 2015,

NATC announced

a series of temporary layoffs of

approximately 80 employees at the Cantung Mine, effective June 3, 2015, as part of various
cost savings and cash conservation measures implemented by the Petitioner. This layoff
amounted to approximately 31% ofthe total number of employees at the Cantung Mine. Given
the standard rotational schedule, each employee will miss one work rotation of three weeks.
Employees continue to be paid all wages and vacation pay that is due and owing.
CURRENT CASH SITUATION

104.

NATC has implemented a strict cash conservation and cost reduction plan to

minimize capital expenditures and to enable operations to continue during a low point in the
price of tungsten concentrate.

In addition to the above noted layoffs, NATC has delayed

construction of the projected $8 million dry stack facility, and cancelled or delayed various
other capital improvement projects.
105.

For the six months ended March 31, 2015, NATC experienced a net loss of

$6.6 million. NATC's cash balances are extremely low and additional or replacement financing
will likely be required.
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106.

Absent a CCAA filing, NATC expects to have insufficient cash in the coming

weeks with which to pay its suppliers, employees, and debt service payments.

Key trade

creditors may take steps to refuse to provide services that are essential to transport, and
therefore sell, existing tungsten inventories.
107.

To assist with the Petitioner's cash situation, while these proceedings are

ongoing:
(a) Kurt Heikkila and I have agreed to continue as officers of the Petitioner for a
monthly salary of $1 effective June 1, 2015; and
(b) Queen wood II and the Debentureholders have agreed to defer interest payments (
including over U5$1.2 million already deferred to date); and
(c) The Directors (as defined below) have agreed to defer their Director's fee
compensation.
108.

One of the Directors, Allan Krasnick, provides consulting services forging crucial

relationships with First Nations in the regions in which NATC operates. It is critical to NATC's
ongoing operations that Mr. Krasnick continues to foster and maintain these relationships.
Given NATC's financial challenges, Mr. Krasnick has agreed to a significant reduction in his
compensation during these CCAA proceedings.
109.

If the Cantung Mine is forced to shut down, NATC has no available liquidity to

pay for the environmental monitoring of the tailing ponds that are situated next to the Flat
River. NATC further has no immediate funds to pay for the shut down and maintenance of the
Cantung Mine, which is required to preserve the equipment and machinery located on the
mine site, as well as to preserve the mine for future production. NATC's lack of liquidity is
highly critical and thus it will likely require interim financing.
110.

The cash flow projection attached as Exhibit "D" to this Affidavit shows that

NATC is modestly cash-flow negative over the next six weeks. NATC expects to have sufficient
cash to operate over the next two to three weeks, but may need a small infusion of funds in
late June 2015. NATC appreciates the urgency in exploring options for interim financing, and at
the same time will manage its cash outflows carefully, including orders of mine supplies, to
maximize its cash resources while taking steps to to stabilize and preserve the mine assets and
identify its restructuring options.
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111.

I have reviewed the cash flow projection and believe that it is reasonable in the

circumstances.
RESTRUCTURING

112.

NATC management continues to believe that its core tungsten business is viable

if it is allowed to restructure. The Cantung Mine has tungsten ore reserves that are proven as
well as probable and indicated reserves. The Cantung Report shows probable mineral reserves
supporting a mine life beyond 2017, as well as indicated resources that may extend its life
beyond that time frame. Further, there is tungsten and copper in the tailings ponds that could
be recovered and milled as part of NATC's progressive reclamation of the Cantung Mine.
Finally, an orderly process would increase the likelihood of finding an investor for the Mactung
Property, generating proceeds which could be used to pay down existing NATC liabilities.
113.

The Cantung Mine produces extremely high quality tungsten concentrate which

has a. world market, and is one of the few sources of tungsten outside of China. Tungsten is a
base metal that is in high demand by its end users and world demand is increasing.
114.

Based on information from industry experts, NATC management believes that

APT prices will increase over the next two to three years as global demand increases,
particularly out of China. As the market price of APT increases, so will the revenue of NATC.
115.

NATC's financial problems have been exacerbated by a number of external

factors which were outside its control. NATC requires CCAA protection to seek to develop a
plan for NATC to continue as a viable business.
116.

As a direct result of the working capital deficit currently facing NATC, NATC is no

longer able to meet its obligations as they fall due. In order to avoid enforcement proceedings
by major secured creditors, or the cessation of services and seizure of essential equipment by
unsecured creditors, NATC requires the protection of the stay available under the CCAA to
provide it with an opportunity to stabilize the current situation so that it may consider
refinancing and restructuring opportunities.
117.

While operating with the benefit of such protection, NATC believes that it will be

able to satisfy fully all of its post-filing obligations while it considers available restructuring
opportunities.
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118.

Subject to court approval, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. ("A&M") has consented

to act as Monitor during the CCAA proceedings to assist NATC with its restructuring efforts. A
consent letter from A&M is attached hereto as Exhibit "E".
119.

At no time in the past two years has A&M or any of its partners or directors

been the Petitioner's auditor, accountant or employee of the auditor, or accountant for the
Petitioner.
RELIEF REQUESTED

CCAAStay
120.

In the event NATC is not afforded the opportunity to restructure under the

CCAA there will be an inevitable liquidation of the Petitioner's assets. The current unsettled
tungsten market is not a favourable environment for liquidation.

The remoteness of the

Cantung Mine would impact negatively on asset values. In addition, NATC is unlikely to have
the full ability to maintain its contractual arrangements with third parties and maintain its
mining leases, claims and water permits. Accordingly, in the event the relief is not granted to
NATC under the CCAA and NATC is forced to liquidate its assets on a break-up basis, there
would likely be no recovery for the unsecured creditors of NATC and the secured creditors of
NATC other than Callidus would likely suffer a shortfall on their security position. In addition,
NATC will not be in a position to complete a progressive reclamation of the Cantung Mine or
meet its total reclamation obligations to GNWT, which could impact the surrounding Nahanni
watershed wilderness.
121.

As at May 31, 2015, NATC employed approximately 259 people at the Cantung

Mine, its total payroll was approximately $2.3 million monthly including benefits which
represented approximately 38.4% of the total expenses of running the Cantung Mine. Over the
past two years, NATC has increased its presence in northern communities. In Watson Lake,
Yukon, where it remains the largest private-sector employer and purchaser of goods and
services. NATC has also increased its presence in Whitehorse, where a weekly plane transports
employees to the Cantung Mine site, as well as in Nahanni Butte and throughout the Dehcho
Region of the Northwest Territories.

NATC has concluded a renewable 7-year impact and

benefit agreement with the Nahanni Butte Dene Band that increases local opportunities and
provides the First Nation with involvement in NATC's environmental stewardship of Cantung.
When positions at Cantung become available, job postings for the mine are now circulated
throughout First Nations communities in the Kaska, Dehcho and Sahtu regions, providing
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increased opportunities for local hiring. NATC has made significant social investments in
providing jobs and business opportunities, training and apprenticeship programs. In addition,
there are eight employees in the Vancouver office.
122.

The liquidation of NATC's assets would likely result in the permanent closure of

the Cantung Mine. Given the current state of the business climate and the mining industry in
Northern British Columbia and the Territories, it is unlikely that the hundreds of employees
subsequently laid off could find employment in the short term. The permanent shut down of
NATC's business would therefore have consequences to businesses and working families in the
northern communities where NATC's operations are carried out, including Watson Lake and
Whitehorse.
123.

NATC's creditors will likely receive substantially more if the operations continue

as a going concern and a successful reorganization is accomplished rather than if NATC's assets
are liquidated through. a forced liquidation. In addition, the broader stakeholder groups of
employees, suppliers, environmental regulators, and the surrounding communities will benefit
from an orderly restructuring.

Interim Financing
124.

In light of the current cash flow forecast, interim financing is not required

immediately, but will likely be required in the short term. As such, NATC is exploring· the
possibility of interim financing with a priority charge over certain assets if same becomes
necessary.

Administration Charge
125.

A&M is prepared to act as Monitor during the CCAA proceeding and to assist the

Petitioner with preparation of cash flow projections and with all aspects in relation to a
restructuring pursuant to, and subject to, the terms of the Initial Order of the Court and the
statutory provisions of the CCAA. If so directed by the Court, A&M is also prepared to monitor
the operations of the Petitioner, to provide direction and guidance to management during the
CCAA restructuring period regarding the restructuring, and to generally assist the Petitioner
with the restructuring efforts,
126.

The Petitioner's solicitors, the Monitor, and the Monitor's solicitors are essential

to NATC's restructuring. They have each advised that they are prepared to provide or continue
professional services to the Petitioner only if they are protected by a charge over the assets of
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the Petitioner. Accordingly, the Petitioner seeks to establish a priority charge over those assets
in favour of its solicitors, the Monitor, and the Monitor's solicitors.
127.

In connection with its appointment, it is contemplated that the Monitor, counsel

to the Monitor and counsel to the Petitioner, will be granted a court ordered charge as security
for their respective fees and disbursements relating to services rendered up to a maximum
amount of $500,000 with the priority set out in the Initial Order. This amount has been
determined not on the basis of the total fees payable to these professionals during the
proceedings but on an assessment of what could be an amount outstanding to these
professionals at any given time in the proceedings.
128.

The Petitioner has provided to the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor and counsel

to the Petitioner, respectively, retainers of $20,000, $20,000 and $20,581.01 (funds remaining
in trust after application to outstanding accounts).

Director and Officer Protections
129.

The current directors of NATC are:
(a) Kurt Heikkila;
(b) Dennis M. Lindahl;
(c) Ronald Erickson;
(d) Allan Krasnick; and
(e) Bryce Porter
(collectively, the "Directors").

130.

The current officers of NATC are:
(a) Kurt Heikkila; and
(b) Dennis M. Lindahl
(collectively, the "Officers").

131.

A successful restructuring of the Petitioner will only be possible with the

continuity ofthe Directors and Officers.
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132.

The Directors have significant expertise with NATC and their continuity is

essential to the Petitioner's ongoing viability.
133.

The Officers are equally important to NATC as they have specialized expertise

and experience with the Petitioner and the tungsten mining industry generally. Over time, the
Officers have developed relationships with suppliers, employees and other stakeholders that
will be important to the restructuring process. These relationships are not easily duplicated or
replaced. NATC will benefit from the experience and expertise of the Directors and Officers
which will be invaluable in assisting the Petitioner through the CCAA process.
134.

It is my understanding that in certain circumstances directors and officers can be

held personally liable for certain of a company's obligations to the federal and provincial
governments including with respect to payroll remittances, harmonized sales tax, goods and
services taxes, withholding taxes, Workers Compensation remittances, etc. Furthermore I
understand that it may be possible for directors and officers of a company to be held
personally liable for certain wage related obligations to employees.
135.

NATC retains directors and officers liability insurance through a directors and

officers insurance policy (the "D&O Insurance"). The current D&O Insurance provides $10
million in coverage and expires on November 1, 2015.
136.

The Directors have informed me that they are concerned with respect to

potential personal liability if they continue in their current capacities. I am of the view that in
light of the potential for personal liability some or perhaps all the Directors will not continue
their service and involvement in the proposal restructuring unless the Initial Order grants a
charge as described below.
137.

With the assistance of the A&M, the Petitioner performed a calculation to

determine the reasonable quantum of the potential Director and Officer liability based on the
number of employees, NATC's pay cycle and various other potential sources of personal
liability such as source deductions and tax liabilities.
138.

· After taking into account the amount of NATC's payroll and comments of A&M,

the Petitioner proposes that a charge in favour of the Directors and Officers be granted in the
amount of $500,000 (the "D&O Charge") to provide a reasonable level of protection to those
Directors and Officers prepared to stay with NATC to see it through the CCAA process. The
D&O Charge ensures that the Directors and the Officers will receive protection from liability if
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the D&O Insurance cannot be renewed due to an increase of premiums or if NATC cannot
otherwise rely on the D&O Insurance.
139.

In particular given certain Directors' agreement to defer their fees during these

proceedings and the Officers' agreement to serve for a salary of $1 per month, the Petitioner
believes that the amount of the D&O Charge is fair and reasonable in the circumstances.
140.

The D&O Charge is vital to encouraging the continuing participation in this CCAA

proceeding of the Directors and Officers, who will provide necessary experience and stability to
this process and guide NATC's restructuring efforts. It is critical that a level of continuity be
maintained within the Petitioner to ensure focus on achieving a restructuring plan that will
benefit its stakeholders. The D&O Charge will also provide significant assurances to NATC
employees that the payment of wages, vacation pay and other statutory entitlements will be
satisfied as well as withholding any tax obligations owing to federal, provincial or state
authorities.
CONClUSION

141.

NATC is optimistic that a restructuring of the business will have the effect of

improving its long term financial prospects while preserving value for all stakeholders and
permitting it to continue to operate as a going concern beyond the period of creditor
protection. The Petitioner believes that the best way to preserve enterprise value for NATC and
its stakeholders is for the Initial Order to be granted and restructuring to be pursued through a
CCAA Plan.

SWORN BEFORE ME at Vancouver, British
Columbia, on the li'day

o~ 2015.

DENNIS M. LINDAHl

TEVIA JEFFRIES
Barristt>r & Solicitor
DENTONS CANADA LLP
20th Floor, 250 Howe Street
Vancouver, B.C. V6C 3R8
Telephone (604) 687-4460
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This is Exhibit "A" referred to in the Affidavit of
DENNIS M. LINDAHL sworn before me at Vancouver

this

a'" day of June, 2015.

NORTH AMERICAN

TUNGSTEN
CORPORATION

Head Office:
Box 19, #1640 -1188 West Georgia Street
Vancouver, BC V6E 4A2
Ph. 604·684-5300
Fax 604·684·2992
DATE: November 3, 2014

L T D

TSX VENTURE EXCHANGE (NTC)

North American Tungsten Files Technical Report for cantung Mine- Life of Mine
Extended Beyond 2017
Vancouver, BC • North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd. (TSX.V: NTC) ("NTC" or "the Company")
announces that the Company has filed a Technical Report entitled "Technical Report on the Cantung Mine,
Northwest Territories, Canada" dated September 19, 2014 (the "Report"). The Report was prepared In
compliance with National Instrument 43·101 -Standards for Disclosure for Mineral Projects and may be
found under the Company's profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
The Report supports the disclosure contained In the Companls press release of September 19, 2014, which .
announced that estimates of mineral reserves and resources had Increased. The updated reserves and
resources support an extended mine life beyond 2017, the report confirmed. Since that last update of 2011,
NTC has extracted more than 1.4 million tons of ore at cantung, yet probable reserve estimates have
Increased from the 1.69 million tons reported then to the current estimate of 1.82 million tons.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

"Kurt E. Heikkila"
Kurt E. Heikkila
Chairman & CEO
ABOUT NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
The Company is a publicly listed Tier 1 Junior Resource Company engaged primarily in the operation,
development, and acquisition of tungsten and other related mineral properties In canada. The Company's
100% owned canTung mine and MacTung development project make It one of the few tungsten producers
with a strategic asset in the western world. MacTung Is one of the world's largest known undeveloped high
grade tungsten-skarn deposits.

Neither TSX Venture Exchange nor Its Regulation Services Provider (as that term as defined in policies of the
TSX Venture Exchange) accepts responsibility for the adequacy or accuracy of this release.
Cautionary Note: The Company relies upon litigation protection for "forward-looking" statements.
Safe Harbour Statement under the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of l99S and
similar Canadian legislation: Except for the statements of historical fact contained herein, the Information
presented contains "Forword·fooklng statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and similar Canadian leg/slot/on. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements con
be Identified by the use of words such as "plans", "expects,» "'budget,"' Nschedu/ed," estlmates,"
'Jorecasts, » "Intends, N Nanticipates," "believes," or variation of such words and phrases that refer to certain
actions, events or results to be taken, and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd. to be materially different from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or Implied by such forward-looking statements. Such
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factors Include, among others, the actual results of reclomotion activities, the est/motion or realization of
mineral reserves and resources, the timing and amount of estimated future production, costs of production,
capital expenditures, future prices of commodities, possible variations in ore grade or recovery rates,
efficacy and efficiency of milling process, failure of plant, equipment or processes to operate as anticipated,
accidents, labour disputes and other risks in the mining industry. Although North American Tungsten
Corporation Ltd. has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actions, events or results to
differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause
actions~ events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that
such statements will prove to be accurate as actual results and future events could differ materially from
those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forwardlooking statements contained herein and in North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd.'s other filing
incorporated by reference.
INVESTOR CONTACT:
lnfo@natungsten.com,

Phone: +1.604.684.5300 Fax: +1.604.684.2992

This is Exhibit "8" referred to in the Affidavit of
DENNIS M. LINDAHL sworn before me at Vancouver
this 81h day of June, 2015.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of North American Tungsten
Corporation Ltd. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as
at September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013 and the consolidated statements ofloss and
comprehensive loss, casb flows and equity for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise
a summazy of significant accounting policies and other explanatozy information.

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessazy to enable the preparation of consolidated fmancial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 8o6 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806, www.pwc.com/ca
"PwC" refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario imited liability partnership.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd. and its subsidiaries as at September 30, 2014 and
September 30, 2013 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of matter
Without qualil'ying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which
discloses matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

signed "PricewaterhouseCoopers ILP"
Chartered Accountants
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NORTH AMBliCAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT SEPTEM8Bl30, 2014 AND 2013
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
September 30,
2014

Note(s)

September 30,
2013

ASSETS
Ctmntassels
Cash Md cash eqliv~enls
ACC<Ults receivable
lnvenbies
Prepaid O<penses
Derivative instrunents

$
6
7

363 $
1,252
14,064
944

8
16,623

Acc<Ulb receivable
PrqJerty, plant and "!Jipment
Mineral plqlelty • Macrung
Reclamalal deposits

~595

203
9,025
7,642
8118
29
17,787

27,149
19,661
5,931

5,358
25,494
18,731
5,469

$

71,959 $

72,839

$

16,426 $

16,416
24,679

6
9
10
19 &21

LIABILITIES
Ctmnt labilities
ACCOlllls pay !tie and accrued liabilities
Blllk loii1S
Celi<IJS loan
Ctmntportion ofcustcmer advances
Ctmnt portion ofcuslaner loii1S
Current palon of debeWes
Current portion of eqli!Jiloot loans and cepilallaesas
Current portion of n0015 pay able
Current portion of rectamatioo liablitias

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

Cuskx1'1Er advances
Cuslaner loans
Debenlures
Equipment loans and capital leases
N0015 pay able
Reclamation labilities

14
15
16
17
18
19

10,126
426
1,974

2,705

259
2,000
597
31,810

2,807
4,934
963
55,421

3,380
6,090
11,564
210

5,358

~917

1~564

9,394
75,012

462
2,000
7,460
70,741

SHARE CAPITAL AND DEFICIT
Sharecepilal
Coo~bulad surpus
Delcit

20
20

$
Gcing concern
Canmiments and eootingencies
Subsequent ev enls

ON BEHAlf OF THE BOARD
"sigle<f

Kurt E. Heik~~
'sigle<f

Bl'fce M.A. Porter

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

21 &22
34

64,836
7,762
(75,651)
(3,063)
71,959 $

64,836
6,267
(59,005)
~098

72,839
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NORTH AMBliCAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPRENENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBBl30, 2014AND 2013
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
For the year ended
(figures In Ulousands of dollars except for per share amounts)

Note(s)

REVENUES
Saes

29

EXPENSES
Cos1 of sales

ln-t and linancirg cos is
GenEral md administative costs
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Accretion oflnanoat iabiiles

Sep1ember 30,

Sep1ember 30,

2014

2013

85,209 $

79,818

23

80,088

79,951

24

5,213
2,949

$

25

~275

12, 13, 16 &16

1,481
507
48
29
5

Ex~oratial

Shar&l>ased canpensalial
Loss (gain) oo rev alualon of deoivalv es
Loss oo dsposa of assels
Impairment of property, ~ant and Ol'ipment
Interest and olher income

20
8& 16

(218)

16
1,757
(82)

(7,168)

(13,266)

522

33

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Loss per share
Bas~ and <ilu\ed

(94)

9

NET LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Deferred incane tax rOCOJery

3,399
5,893
(37)
1,489
514
358

(6,648)

(13,266)

30
$

(0.03)

$

(0.06)

Weighled av eraga number of shares (01 lho.isands)

Base and dilled

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these consolidated financial statements

236,123

237,436
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND 2013
AGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
For 1he Yf11V ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013

Note(s)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
lblms not al!ecli1g cas It
AmO!Izaioo 111d depreciatioo
Accretion of financial ualifities
Accretion rl reclamation iabilities

$
9
12, 13, 16 & 18
19

lnvmby write-doWn

23

S!Jar&.based compensatioo
lmparm<!11t r1 property, plant 111d eq\Jpm"'t
l<iss on dsposal of essets
Foreign exct..nge loss
Def!Jred income tax recrNf!r'/
loss (gain) on revalualoo of derivatives

20
9

7,928
1,481
124
612
48
5
1,968
(522)
29
5,156

8& 16

Interest and lnancing costs
Adjusm..,tilr:
Change in nooi-<ash walling capi1al
Increase in ro::lanalon deposits

(6,646) $

26
21

(13,266)
7,646
1,409
179
914
368
1,757
16
442
(94)
3,205

10,183

~~

1,012

1,664

(400)
1~7§

(400)
~730

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
ExpencliJre on Machlng property
Purchase of property, plant end eq\Jpment

10
9

(8,597)
(9,586)

(1,093)
(4, 118)
(5,211)

(~820)

(5,890)

(989)

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Equipment loans llld capital leases, net
Deben\lres, net
Notes payable, net
Wlllldng Capilallml
Operating Losn, net
Calidus lo!ll, net

Customer acNmces
Cuslooler lo!l1s
lnlo"est end in01cing costs pad

17
16
18
12
12
13
14
15

~257

Etrect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 9:1Uivalents

~574

11,965
(12,000)
(11, 103)
9,871
426
5.422
(5,156)

(3,205)

(1,138)

(440)

~085

3,996

89

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

160

(1,921)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENlS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD

203

2,124

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD
Represenildby:
Cash
Cash equivetmts

SL!lPiemenlal cash low infoonalon

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

$

383 $

203

$

363 $

168

$

383 $

203

35

26

c
I

NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTel CORPORATION LTD.
CONSOLIDAT8l STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS elD8l SEPTEMBER 30, 2014AND 2013
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS EXCEPT NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES

Not.{s)

Balance at September 30, 2012

237,123,058 $

1,000,000

CO'M1CJ1 shares Issued

Wmnts issued
Share-based canpensaloo
Netms

Number of
common
shares

Share capital

64,673 $
163

20
20

Contributed

Deficit

surplus

5,667 $

(55,739) $

236,123,058 $

64,638 $

~267

14,601
163

242

242
358
(13,266)

Balance at September 30, 2013

Total equity

$

(69,005) $

358
(13,268)

2,098

Ccrwersion feaWre of conv a1ibl& debErlilres,
net of lax es of $294

16

815

815

Capital CCJllibulon"' Quaenwood II promissay nole,
net of lax es of $228

18

632

632

20

48

Share-based compensatiC11
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2014

(6,6>Ui)
236,123,058 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

64,836 $

7,762 $

(75,651) $

48
(6,6>Ui)

(3,053)
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014AND 2013
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
1.

Nature of operations and going concern:
North Amencan Tungsten Corporation Ltd. (the 'Company") is engaged in tungsten mining and related activities including acquisition,
exploration, development and processing of ore and concentrates. The Company owns the Cantung mine in the Northwest Territones; the
Maclung mineral property on the border of Yukon and Northwest Terntones; and other tungsten exploration prospects. The Company is
incorporated under the Canadian Business Corporations Act ('CBCA"). The address of the head office is suite 1640 - 1188 West Georgia
Street, Vancouver, Bntish Columbia, Canada.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS") and
on the basis of accounting princ/ples applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will be able to continue operation for
the foreseeable future and will be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. There are
conditions and events that cast significant doubt on the validity of this assumption.
For the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company recorded a net loss of $6.6 mil6on (year ended September 30, 2013 the net loss
was $13.3 million). At September 30, 2014 the Company had a working capital deficiency of $15.2 million (September 30, 2013 $37.6 million) and shareholders' deficit of $3.1 million (September 30, 2013 ·shareholders' equity of $2.1 million).
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern depends upon continued support from its shareholders, lenders and customers.
The Company will need to generate positive net earnings. To accomplish this, the Company commenced a mine and mill improvement
project to increase mill throughput and metallurgical recovery, which is near completion at September 30, 2014. In addition, it will be
necessary to roll-over, extend, replace or refinance existing loan facilities as they mature, anrange new financing or convert existing debts
into equity.
Subsequent to September 30, 2014, the Company executed a promissory note with Queenwood Capital Partners II LLC ('Queenwood Ill
for up to USD$3.0 million to provide near term liquidity and working capital (Note 34).
Subsequent to September 30, 2014, the Company extended the Callidus Capital Corporation ('Callidus") loan to May 31, 2016 and
borrowed additional funds of $3.65 million (Note 34). Of the additional funds received, $2.0 million was used to repay a promissory note
that matured on December 31, 2014. The repayment of any pnncipal amounts to Queenwood II is fully subordinated to the repayment of
the Callidus loan.
If the going concern assumption were no! appropnate for these financial statements, adjustments would be necessary to the carrying
values of assets and liabilities, reported expenses and classification used in the statement of financial position. The adjustments would be
material.

2.

Significant accounting policies:
a.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
('IASB}. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a histoncal cost basis except for financial instruments classified as
fair value through profrt or loss ('FVTPL1 which are stated at their fair value.
The Board of Directors approved these financial statements on January 13, 2015.
b.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and the enHties controlled by the Company (its
subsidianes). Control is defined as the exposure, or rights, to vanable returns from involvement with an investee and the ability to affect
those returns through power over the investee. Power over an investee exists when the Company has existing rights that give the
Company the abiHty to direct the activities that significantly affect the investee's returns. This control is generally evidenced through
owning more than 50% of the voting rights or currently exercisable potential voting nghts of a subsidiary's share capital. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those of the Company.
Intercompany balances and transactions, including any unrealised income and expenses ansing from intercompany transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2014 AND 2013
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Name of subsidiary

Country of incorporation

Ownership interest

Functional currency

Numbered Company Inc.

Delawam, Unii!d Slales of America

100%

USD

International Carbitech lnduslies Inc. 1'1

British Columbia, Canada

100%

CND

(1) International Carbilech lnduslies Inc. was dissolved by way of voluntary dissolution under lhe CBCA on March 21, 2014.

c,

Foreign currency translation

Funcffonal and presentaffon currency
Items included in the financial statements of each consolidated entity are measured using the currency of the prima<y economic
environment in which the entity operates (lhe "functional currency}. The functional curmncy of the Company is the Canadian dollar
('CND"). The consolidated financial statements am pii!Sented in CND, which is the Company's presentation currency.

Translaffon of foreign operaUons
The results and financial position of entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
pfi!Sentation currency as follows: assets and liabilities- at the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial postion and income
and expenses- at the average rate of the period (as this is considered a reasonable approximation to aclual rates). All resulting changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income (loss) as cumulative translation adjustments.
When an entity disposes of its entire interest in a foreign operation, or loses control, joint control, or significant influence over a foreign
operalion, the foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income (loss) related to the foreign operation are
recognised in profit or loss. If an entity disposes of part of an interest in a foreign operation which remains a subsidia<y, a propornonate
amount of foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income (loss) related to the subsidia<y is reallocated
between controlling and non-rontrolling interests.

Transacfions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of an entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Generally, foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the
translation at period end exchange rates of moneta<y assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than an entity's functional
currency are recognisad in income (loss) for the period.

d.

Financiallnstruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to
contraclual provisions of the financial instrument. All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Measurement in
subsequent periods depends on the catego<y of financial instruments. FVTPL financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains, losses and transactions costs recognised in income (loss) for the period. Financial assets held to maturity, loans and
receivables and other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available for sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with
unrealised gains and losses, including changes in foreign exchange rates, recognised In other comprehensive income Qoss).
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND 2013
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
The Company has designated each of its significant categories of financial instruments as follows:
Cash and cash equivalenls
Accounts receivable
Reciamalion deposits
Accounls payable and accrued liabitities
Bank loans
Calldus loan
Cusl:lmer loans
Eqtipment loans and capilalleases
Debenilres & convertible debenlures (inlerest bearing portion)
Noles payable
Derivative instrumenls
e.

Loans and receiv abies
Loans and receiv abies
Loans and receiv abies
Olher financial liabilities
Olher financial liabilities
Olher financial ~abiilies
Olher financialliabiities
Olher financialliabiilies
Olher financial fiabililies
Olher financial liabilities

FVTPL

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank accounts and demand deposits wilh maturities from lhe date of acquisition of 90 days or
less.
1.

Inventories

Concenbate inventories are comprised of tungsten and copper concenbates. Tungsten concentrate inventories include all direct costs
incurred in production including labour, materials, cost of freight to lhe mine site, depreciation and attributable administrative overhead
costs. Net realisable value for tungsten concentrate inventories is determined based on lhe Company's average realised tungsten sales
price for the monlh less lhe costs to sell.
Copper concentrate is a by-product of lhe tungsten production process. The cost of copper inventory is determined based on the relative
sales value approach, where the total production costs for lhe period when the copper was produced are allocated based on lhe estimated
sales value of lhe copper compared to lhe estimated sales value of the tungsten. Net realisable value for copper inventories is determined
based on the market sates price for copper at lhe end of lhe reporting period less lhe costs to sell.
Ore stockpile inventory consists of stockpiled ore on lhe surface and includes all directly altributable mining costs to lhe specific stage of
production including, for material from lhe open pit, associated waste rook stripping costs.
Supplies inventory is valued at weighted average cost.
All inventories are canied at lhelower of cost and nel realisable value. If lhe net realisable value of an item of inventory is below its cost, it
is written down to net realisable value in the period. In subsequent periods, if lhe circumstances lhal caused the inventory to be written
down below cost no longer exist or lhere is clear evidence that an increase in net realisable value has occurred, lhe write down is reversed
to lhe extent lhat lhe new carrying amount is lhe lower of lhe original cost or lhe revised net realisable value.
g,

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and are canied at cost less accumulated depreciation and write-downs.
Property, plant and equipment are amortized using lhe unit of production melhod.
Cost includes expenditures lhal are directly attributable to lhe acquisition of lhe asset. Subsequent costs are included in each asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated wilh
lhe item will flow to lhe Company and lhe cost can be measured reliably.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to lhe statement of comprehensive loss during lhe period in which lhey are incurred, except
when lhasa repairs significanlly extend lhe life of an asset or result in an operating improvement In these instances, lhe portion of the
repairs relating to lhe betterment is capitalized as part of plant and equipment Major overhauls are capitalized to each asset in lhe period
lhallhey are incurred and the costs associated wilh lhe original asset derecognised.
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND 2013
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS

The major calegones of property, plan! and equipmenl are as follows:

Major categories

Depreciation method

un• of production

Mine inraslructure assels
Buildings, equipment and plan!
Tailings management
Equipmenl under capilalleases

Unil of production
Unit of production
Unit of production

Mine infrastructure· assets include costs of access dnfts, ramps, tunnels and infrastructure to access ore bodies, which are estimated to
provide benefits to ttle Company for future production. Costs are assigned to individual ore bodies and are amortized using ttle unit of
production mattlod based on ttle estimated recoverable tungsten units associated wittl ttle specific ore body. When ttle estimated
recoverable tungsten units associated with the costs have been mined and it is detennined that no future material benefit will be provided
by ttle assets, a retirement is recorded to remove ttle cosls and associated accumulated depreciation.
The Company allocates ttle amount initially recognised in respecl of an item of property, plant and equipment toils significant components
and separately depreciates each component over ils useful life. Residual values, mettlod of depreciation and useful lives of ttle assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropnate. Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are
recognised in ttle statement of comprehensive loss in lhe period when the disposal occurs.
Cosls associated wilh lhe stripping of overburden or waste rock in an open pit that provide access to additional sources of ore and !hat are
expecled to provide future benefils are capitalised as defenred stripping cosls wittlin property, plant and equipment. Deferred stripping
costs are amortised over tne estimated tons of ore made available by the stripping campaign and are transferred to stockpile inventory as
lhe ore tons are mined. Deferred stripping is initially measured at cost and subsequently carried at cost less amortisation and impairment
losses.

h.

Capital teases

Assets under capital tease are capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment and ttle outstanding lease obligations are shown in
equipment loans and capital leases. The interest element of lease payments is expensed ovar ttle lerm of llle lease and is reported in lhe
statement of comprehensive loss as an interest and financing cost

i.

Borrowing coste

Borrowing costs atlributable to lhe acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assels are added to lhe cost of those assels, until
such time as lhe assets are substantiaDy complete and ready for tlleir intended use. AD olher borrowing costs are recognised as interest
and financing cosls in llle statement of comprehensive loss in llle period in which they are incurred.

j.

Mineral property Interests

Mineral property costs for lhe acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development of mineral property interests are capitalized on a
property-by-property basis. Such expenditures include direcl costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditures. Mineral
property costs are considered to be intangible assets. Mineral property costs are not amortized. Each property is evaluated each reporting
penod for indicators of impainnent, in order to determine if the costs incurred to date continue to be recoverable. Capitalized costs !hat
exceed lhe estimated recoverable amount are charged to lhe statement of loss. Upon sale or abandonment of mineral properties, the
accumulated costs are derecognised and any gains or losses !hereon are incklded in the statement of loss.
When a mineral property moves from exploration into development, the costs of lhe property are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

k.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and any intangible assels are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate tllat
lhe carrying amount may not be recoverable. For lhe purpose of measunng recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at lhe lowest levels
for which tllere are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units or CGUs). The recoverable amount is tlle higher of an assefs
fair value less costs to sell and value in use (being llle present value of expected future cash flows of llle relevant asset or CGU). In
assessing value in use, llle estimated future cash flows are discounted to !heir present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessmenls of tne time value of money and the risks specific to the asset An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014AND 2013
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS

Where an impainnenlloss subsequendy reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amoun~ but to an amount that does not exceed the canrying amount that would have been detennined had no impairment loss been
previously recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of loss.
I.

Compound financial Instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise convertible debentures that contain an option to convert a portion or the
entire amount into equity at the option of the holder and the number of shares to be issued does not vary. The liability component of a
compound finandal instrument is recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option.
The equity component is recognised initially as the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and
the fair value of the liability component. Any direcUy attributable ttansaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to their initial carrying amounts. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound finan~al instrument is
measured et amortized cost with accretion due to the passage of time recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive loss.
The equity component of a compound financial instrument is notre-measured subsequent to initial recognition excapt on conversion or
expiry.
m. Reclamation liabilities
Provision is made for closure, restoration and environmental rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantling and demolition of
infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the financial period when the related obligation arises,
based on the estimated future costs using the best infonnation available at the statement of financial position date. At the time of
establishing the provision, a corresponding asset is capitalised to property, plant and equipment as a reclamation asset. where it gives rise
to a future benefit. The provision is discounted using a cunrent market based pre-tax discount rate and the unwinding of the discount is
recorded as interest and financing costs.
The provision is reviewed each reporting period for changes to obligations, legislation or discount rates that impacl estimated costs or
timing of set11ement. The cost of the related asset is adjusted for changes in the provision resulting from changes in the estimated cash
flows or discount rate.
n.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Company recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured and when it is probable that the future economic benefit will flow to the Company. These criteria are
generally met when title, risk and benefit have passed to the customer and acceptance of the product has been obtained when
contractually required. Typically revenue is recognised when product is delivered to customer facilities or when loaded on a vessel at an
international shipping port
Tungsten concentrates are sold under pricing arrangements where final prices are determined based on quoted market prices of the
refined product in a period prior to the date of sale.
Copper concentrates are sold under pridng arrangements where final prices ere detennined based on quoted market prices for the refined
product in a period subsequent to the date of sale. Final pricing is generally determined two to three months after the date of sale.
Revenues are recorded provisionally at the time of sale based on foiWard prices for the expected date of the final settlement. Subsequent
variations in price are recognised as revenue adjustments as they occur until the price is finalized.
o.

Income taxes

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (loss) except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognised directly in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted, at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.
In general, deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
canrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset
or liability Is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.
Deferred income lex is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries excapt where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non..:urrenl
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities refete to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to setHe the balances on a net basis.
p.

Shar•based compensation

The Company grants share options to directors, employees and consultants. Share options are granted with varying vesting terms over
the life of the option. Each tranche in an award is considared a separate award with its own vesting period and grant date fair value. The
fair value of each tranche is measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense is
recognised over the tranche's vesting period based on the number of awards expected to vest The number of awards expected to vest is
reviewed at least annually, with any impact being recognised immediately. Share options that are granted to consultants (non-employees)
are fair valued based on the fair value of the products and services received by the Company from the consultant If the fair value of the
products and services received cannot be reliably measured, the options are fair valued using Black-Scholes.
q.

Earnings (loss) pershare

Basic earnings (loss) per share ("EPS") is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the period attributable to equity owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for diiutive instruments. The number
of shares included with respecl to options, warrants and similar instruments is computed using the "treasury share method". The number
of shares included with respecl to convertible debentures and similar instruments is computed using the 'If converted method". The
Company's potentially dilutive common shares comprise share options granted to employees, warrants and convertible financial liabilities.
When a net loss is incurred for a period, basic and diluted earnings per share are the same because the exercises of options, warrants
and convertible financial liabilities would be anti-dilutive.
r.

Share capital

The Company records proceeds from share issuances net of share issuance costs. Share capital issued for non-monetary consideration is
recorded at the fair value of the products or services received unless the fair value cannot be reasonably determined in which case the
share capital is recognised at the fair value of the shares on the date the shares are issued.
3.

Adoption of new and amended tFRS pronouncements:
The Company adopted the new and amended pronouncements listed below as at October 1, 2013 in accordance with transitional
provisions outlined in the respeclive standards. The Company has determined that there is no material impact from the adoption of these
new standards with the exception of additional note disclosures on the adoption of IFRS 13.

IFRS 10- Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under pre-existing IFRS, consolidation was
required when an entity had the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12, Consolidation -Special Purpose Entities, and parts of lAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

/FRS 11- Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 requires a venture to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures wiU be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognise its share of the assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation, Under pre-existing IFRS, entities had the choice to proportionately consolidate or
equity account for interests in incorporated joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes lAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, JoinUy
Controlled Entities-Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers.

/FRS 12- Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as subsidiaries, joint arrangements and associates. The
standard canies forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of,
and risks associated with, an entity's interests in other entities.
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/FRS 13- Fair Value Measul!lment
IFRS 13 is a complllhensive standard for the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across aiiiFRS standaros. The
new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asseL or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between mall<et participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under
pre-existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value was dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value
measurements and in many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.

4.

!FRS pronouncements -Issued but not yet effective:

/FRS 9- Financial instruments
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. It replaces the parts of
lAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. !FRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two
measurement categories: those measured at fair value and those measured at amortized cost The determination is made at initial
recognition. The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the lAS 39 requirements. The main change for
Uabilities is that. in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity's own
credft risk is recorded in Other comprehensive income (loss) rather than in net earnings, unless this creates an acoounting mismatch. The
Company does not expect !FRS 9 to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. IFRS 9 is etfactive for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

/FRS 15- Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 wes issued by the lASS in May 28, 2014. The objective of the standard is to establish principles about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. The standard replaces lAS 11 - Construction
Contracts, lAS 18- Revenue, ·IFRIC 13- Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15- Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate,
IFRIC .18- Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 -Revenue- Barter Transactions involving Advertising Services. The standard
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, wfth earty adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing
the impact of adopting IFRS 15.

IFR/C 21- Levies
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a lability for a levy when the activity that triggers paymenL as identified by the relevant
legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liabiHty should be
anticipated before the specified minimum threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2014. The Company does not expect IFRIC 21 to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

5.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments:
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and judgments. It also
requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company's acoounting poicies. These estimates and judgments are based on
management's best knowledge of relevant facts, circumstances and past experiences. Significant areas where management's judgment is
applied include: assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
impairment assessment inputs to determine valuation of property, plant and equipment, reclamation liabilities, amortization and depreciation
and ore reseNe determinations as they relate to the amortization bases.
Certain amounts recognised in the financial statements are subject to measurement uncertainty. The recognised amounts of such items
are based on the Company's best information and judgment. Such amounts are not expected to change materially in the near term but
changes in assumptions could materially affect the estimates.
•
•
•
•

The amounts recorded for depreciation and amortization depend on estimates of tungsten reseiVes, the estimated economic lives of
the assets and estimated salvage values.
The allocation of waste stripping between ore stockpiles and deferred stripping depends on the estimate of tungsten reseNes in the
open pit
Reclamation liabilities for future site restoration costs depends on estimatas of costs, rates of inQation, discount rates, estimated
timing of progressive and future reclamation wolf<, the regulatory environment and mine development plans which are all dependent
on the life of mine assumptions. Changes in the life of mine or any of the assumptions could materially affect the estimated liability.
Costs that have been deferred in relation to mineral property interests have been deferred to the extent that they are expected to be
recovered. The viability of exploration properties depends on the quantity and grade of mineralization, the location of the deposit in
relation to infrastructure, the estimated future mall<et prices of the minerals and political. social and environmental considerations.
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•

In assessing the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment in the event indicators of impairment are identified, the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use assessment require managemantlo make estimates and assumptions about expected
production and sates volumes, raalised sales prices, resll!Ves, operating costs, mine closure and restoration costs, future capital
expenditures and appropriate discount rates for future cash flows. The estimates and assumptions are subjecl Jo risk and
uncertainty, and as such there is the possibility that changes in circumstances will alter these projections, which may impact the
recoverable amount of the assets. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying value of the assets may be further impaired or
the impairment charge reduced with the impact recorded in the statement of comprehensive loss.

Impairment of properly, plant and equipment

As at September 30, 2014, the Company identified indicators of impairment associated with its property, plant and equipment The
recoverable amount was determined based on the value in use method using discounted future cash flows at a discount rate of 13.0o/.
The estimated future cash flows in the value in use model incorporated the Company's best estimates of the following assumptions: future
tungsten production based on the mine plan, resll!Ves, future sales prices, operating costs and discount rates. Sensitivities for the key
assumptions in the value in use model are as follows:
• Forecasted realised sales prices - with other variables unchanged, a 10% decrease in the forecast realised sales price would
produce no impairment
• Tons of ore available Jo be mined - with other variables unchanged, a 10% decrease in the tons available to be mined would
produce no impairment.
• Discount rate- with other variables unchanged, a 10% increase in the discount rate would produce no impairment.
6.

Accounts receivable:

Trade receiv abies
Taxes end oiler receiv atlas
Current portion of accounls receivable
Long-lenn pation of accounts receivable
7.

September 30,
2013
13,950
$
433
14,383
(9,025)
$
5,358

September 30,
2014

September 30,
2013

Inventories:

Tungsten concenb'ates
Copper concenb'ates
Ore si:Jckpile
Materials and supplies

a.

September 30,
2014
$
3,039
608
3,847
(1,252)
2,595
$

$

3,788
86
5,301
4,889

$

839
87
2,613
4,103

$

14,064

$

7,642

Derivative instruments:
September 30,
2014
USDICND !award exchange rale sale contacts

$
$

September 30,
2013

$
$

29
29

Thera were no outstanding f01ward exchange rate contracts at September 30, 2014. At September 30, 2013 the Company held
USD$7.5 million (CDN$7.7 millen) of USD/CDN forward exchange rate sales contracts with exchange rates of USD/CDN1.029 to
USDICDN1.046. For the year ended September 30, 2014 a loss on revaluation of derivative instruments of $29thousand was recognised
(September 30, 2013- gain of $29thousand).
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9.

Property, plant and equipment
Equipment
Lllder espial

lease
Opening cost, Ocklber1, 2012

$

1~900

Buidings,
equipmml and
plant

$

907

Ad<lloos

Project cos! ll!jLOment
Disposals

Mine
miasluclure
assels

31,110 $
1,058

Taiings
m1J18Q!!l11!!111

4ll,415 $

334

15,102 $
1,488

(6021

(30)
5,888
38,006

(5,888)
7,999

Transilr """'""' calegaies
Endng COS\ Sf!lllember 30, 2013
Opening balalce, eccumulatad depreciation and imp<innents,
Ocklber 1, 2012

4,621

Deprecialioo

4{), 147

16,590

10U42

15,064
2,4n

34,634

13,548

67,957

2,461

875

7,546

244

(2,884)

1,513
(12)
2,884

3,470

21,916

37,339

Disposals

1,757
(12)

14,523

Ending balance September 30, 21113

$

4,529

$

16,090 $

2,808 $

2,067 $

Opening cos\ Ocklber 1, 2013
Ad<llalS
Doposals
Transilr lo ore slockpile -invml!lry

$

7,999 $
884

38,006 $
6,246
(110)

4ll, 147 $

16,590 $
2,733

188
(125)

Transilr """'""' calegaies

99,587
3,787
(602)
(30)

1,733

lmp<innent
Transilr """'""' calegaies
En<lng balance eccumulatad de(Jecation and imp<innents,
Seplember 30, 2013

Total

(7,572)

7,572

77,246

102,742
9,713
(110)
(125)

Endng cos\ Seplember 30, 2014
Opening balalce, eccumldated depreciation and imp<innEilti,
Ocklber1,2013

991

51,716

4ll, 190

19,323

112,220

3,470

21,916

14,523

77,246

Depreciation

1,358

505

7,926
(105)

(4,469)

4,257
(105)
4,469

37,339
1,808

339

30,557

39,147

15,026

652$

21,159 $

· Disposals

Transl!r """'"" calegaies
En<lng balance eccumulatad de(Jecation and imp<innents,
Seplember 30, 2014
Ending balance September 30, 21114

$

1,043 $

85,071

4,295 $

As part of the Callidus loan, the Company has entered into a general security agreemenl which includes all property, plant and equipment
(Note 13) except for specific assets which are held as security for the promissory note with the fonmer mining contractor (Note 18).
Included in tailings management is a raise on a tailings pond totalling $2.2 million which was under construction during the year ended
September 30, 2014. Depreciation will commence on this asset in October 2014.
Included in mine infrastructure assets is $0.2 million (September 30, 2013 • $0.4 million) of deferred stripping costs from the fiscal2013
open pit mining program.
At September 30, 2014 the Company assessed the Cantung assets for indicators of impainment and noted the presence of spacific
indicators. As a result, the Company reviewed the carrying value of the Cantung assets for potential impairment. The recoverable amount
of the Cantung assets at September 30, 2014 was detenmined based on the value in use method using future cash flows discounted at a
rate of 13.0%. The estimated future cash flows utilized in the value in use model incorporated the Company's best estimates of future
tungsten production based on the mine plan, reserves, future sales prices and operating costs. Based on the value in use model, the
carrying value of the Cantung assets are recoverable and no impainment charge is required.
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10. Mineral property· Mactung:
The foiiONing !able summarizes llle Company's inveslmentin llle Maclung property.
Balance October 1, 2012
Expandil!.res during llle year
Balance September 30, 2013
Expandil!.res during llle year
Balance September 30, 2014

$

17,668

$

18,731
930
19,661

1,063

$

The Mactung mineral leases are located on the border of Yukon and Northwest Territories and are held under various mineral lease
agreements and claims.
On January 31, 2005 the Company entered into an Amended Royalty Agreement on the Mactung property with Tack Resources Limited
('Tack"). For $100 thousand Tack granted the Company an option (the 'Option") to reduce the Mactung royalty from a 4% net smelter
return ("NSR') to a 1% NSR, such Option to be exercisable by the Company upon paying to Tack an additional $1.0 million by the earlier

ot
•
•

March 30, 2015; or
60 days after the receipt of a water license issued in connection with any proposed development of the properties (as
such term is defined in the Mactung Royalty Agreement) for mineral production.

As the Company did not exercise the Option by March 30, 2010, ~paid an additional $200 thousand to Tack to maintain the Option.
11. Accounts payable and accrued liabiiHies:
September 30,
2014
Trade pay abies
Property, plent end equipment and Maclung property costs payable
Royalties payable
Olller pay abies and accrued Habllties

September 30,
2013

$

9,663
446
4,562
1,755

$

9,287
812
3,728
2,589

$

16,426

$

16,416

12. Bank loans:
The balances of the Operating and Working Capital Loans are as follows:

September 30,
2014
Operating Loan

$

September 30,
2013

$

11,103
13,576

Working Capilal Loan

$

$

24,679

HSBC Bank Canada ("HSBC") credit facilities
Operating Loan

The Company had an Operating Loan facility with HSBC to a maximum of $12.0 million, of which up to USD$5.0 million of the facility was
available in USD. The borrowing base was a percentage of applicable trade accounts receivable and product inventory. The loan carried
interest at HSBC prime rate + 2.0% per annum to the maturity date which was subsequently extended with an increase in interest rate of
2.0% per annum. The loan contained a general security agreement in favour of HSBC over the Cantung mine and associated assets.
During the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company repaid the balance of the Operating Loan facility which was then cancelled.

PAGE 15

~------------------------------------------~0
NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014AND 2013
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
Working Capital Loan
The Company had a Working Capital Loan facilily with HSBC to a maximum of $12.0 million. The loan required monthly interest payments
at HSBC Bank prime + 0.25% to the maturily date which was subsequenUy extended with an increase in interest rate of 2.0% per annum.
A letter of credit that was guaranteed (the 'Guarantee") by two directors (the 'Sponsors") of the Company (Note 27) was pledged as
securily for the Working Capital Loan, in the amount of USD$12.0 million. The Sponsors and HSBC entered into a Put Agreement
exercisable by HSBC at its sole discretion, allowing HSBC to exchange the outstanding balance of the Working Capital Loan with the
Sponsors for up to a USD$12.0 million letter of credit
Under the extension of the credtt facilily to June 30, 2014, the Guarantee and the Put Agreement were also extended. The Company
compensated the Sponsors by paying a fee of 2.25% of the amount of the outstanding balance of the letter of credtt each quarter that the
letter of credit remained outstanding. For the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company recognised an interest and financing cost of
$750 thousand in respect of the Guarantee to the Sponsors (year ended September 30, 2013- $794 thousand).
A fee payable to the Sponsors of USD$2.0 million for the Guarantee was due December 31, 2013. During the year ended
September 30, 2014 the USD$2.0 million fee was refinanced in the Debentures (Note 16). For the year ended September 30, 2014 the
Company recognised accretion of $497 thousand related to the fee (September 30, 2013- $1.0 million).
On June 16, 2014 HSBC issued a demand for full repayment of the loan balance and issued the Put notice, allowing HSBC to exchange
the outstanding balance of the loan with the Sponsors within 30 days. On July 2, 2014 the Company executed a USD$12.0 million
promissory note with Queenwood II (Note 18) to replace its $12.0 million Working Capital Loan which was then repaid in full.

13. Callldus loan:

$

Balance at September 30, 2013
Calidus loan
Principal repayments
Transacton cos!>
Accreton
Balance at September 30, 2014

11,000

(450)
(679)

$

257
10,128

On May 14, 2014 the Company executed an $11.0 million loan with Callidus. The loan is for a term of 1 year, repayable on demand and
bears interest at 18% per annum with interest payable quarterty. Principal repayments of $150 thousand per month commenced on
July 31, 2014 with the remaining balance due on maturily. Included in transaction costs, the Company paid a non-refundable faciily fee of
1% of the CaHidus loan ($110 thousand) to Callidus and a finder's fee of $75 thousand was paid to a third party. The Company has
provided securily in the form of a first charge over all assets of the Company, excluding the Mactung property, accounts receivable from a
customer and all mining and mineral leases, claims and tenures. The repayment of any principal amounts to debenture holders is fully
subordinated to the repayment of the Callidus loan.
Of the loan proceeds, $5.8 million was used to repay the balance of the HSBC Operating Loan facilily (Note 12) and $1.0 million was used
to repay certain equipment loans and capital leases (Note 17). The remaining proceeds of the loan were used to provide working capital to
the Company.
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14. Customer advances:
September 30,
2014

September 30,
2013

Cuslomer advances
Current porion of customer advances

$

3,786
(426)

$

8,063
(2,705)

Loog-term porioo of cuslomer advances

$

3,360

$

5,358

On December 19, 2013, the Company entered into a loan arrangement with an existing customer and the pre-existing USD$2.2 million
advance from that customer was rolled into the loan (Note 15).
On February 20, 2014, the Company entered into a new tungsten delivery contract wi1h another existing customer. Under the terms of the
new delivery agreernen~ the existing USD$3.0 million customer advance will bear interest at 3.0% per annum, with quarterly interest
payments commencing on March 31, 2014. The customer advance is repayable by February 1, 2017 (the end of the initial contract term) or
by mutual agreement by February 1, 2019 (the end of the optional contract renewal periods). See Note 29 for deteils of the tungsten
delivery contract.
The tungsten delivery contracts contain provisions that could allow the customer to terminate the delivery contract if delivery quantities or
concentrate specifications are not achieved for three consecutive months. In the event of termination of the delivery contract by the
customer, the customer advances would become due on demand
On July 2, 2014 the Company executed a supplier financing agreement with a customer and its financial institution whereby the customer's
financial institution pays for tungsten concentrate shipments within 3 to 5 business days of being invoiced. The financial institution charges
a fee for providing this service of which $64 thousand was expensed in interest and financing costs for the year ended
September 30, 2014. The customer pays their financiel institution for the product within normal payment terms. Due to the provisions in the
tungsten delivery contract. the Company had been paid for shipments that had not been recognised as revenue at September 30, 2014,
resulting in a $0.4 million customer advance.
During the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company applied an existing USD$2.6 million customer advance against the associated
receivables on completion of the requirements under the tungsten delivery contract.
15. Customer loans:
September 30,
2014

September 30,
2013

Cuslomer loans
Current porion of cuslomer loans

$

8,064
(1,974)

$

Loog-term porion of customer loans

$

6,090

$

On December 19, 2013, the Company entered into a new tungsten delivery contract with en existing customer (Note 29). In conjunction
with the tungsten delivery contract a loan was arranged for USD$2.5 million and tHe existing USD$2.2 million advance from the customer
(Note 14) was rolled into the loan. The combined USD$4.7 million loan matures on December 31, 2018 and bears interest at 3.0% per
annum with quarterly interest payments commencing on March 31, 2014. Equal principal repayments of USD$293,750 per quarter
commence on March 31, 2015 and continue each quarter thereafter with the final payment on December 31, 2018.
On February 20, 2014, the Company entered into a new tungsten delivery contract with another existing customer (Note 29). In conjunction
with the tungsten delivery contract a loan was arranged for USD$2.5 million. The loan matures on March 31,2017 and bears interest at
3.0% per annum with quarterly interest payments commencing on March 31, 2014. Equal principal repayments of USD$293,750 per
quarter commence on March 31, 2015 and continue each quarter thereafter with the final payment of USD$150,000 on March 31, 2017.
The two customer loans have similar terms and conditions. Each of the loans may be required to be repaid in full on the expiry of the
associated tungsten delivery contract The loans provide the lenders the right to convert the respective outstanding balance of the loans
into convertible notes at any time, which in tum could be converted into common shares of the Company. The convertible notes, if issued,
would be convertible into common shares of the Company at either of the following: ~ the Company has defaulted under the terms of the
loan, the conversion rate is the lowest price allowed by the stock exchange which the common share trade on; otherwise the rate is a
5% discount to the market price of the common share. The Company has the right, within 30 days of receiving notice for the loans to be
converted into a convertible note, to either issue the convertible notes or to repay the loan in full. The loans are secured by a subordinate
charge on the Company's Mactung property. The contingent conversion feature is an embedded derivative which has a nominal value. The
embedded derivative liability has been included with the carrying value of the loans.
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16. Debentures:
Balance at October 1, 2012
Accraian
Gain on revauaion of denvativelnsbllment
Loss on ilreign ex change

$

Balance at September 30, 2013
Accraian
Loss on ilreign exchange
Repaymenls and roii-<Ner inlo new convertible debenlures
Issuance of debenlures and convertible debenlures
Allocation of proceeds to equity i:r the conversion fealures
Transaction cosls
Accretion
Loss on i:raign ex change

$

Balance at September 30, 2014

$

2,353
514
(65)
115
2,917
41
92
(3,050)
11,728
(1, 108)
(41)

441
544
11,564

On October 29, 2013 the Company repaid USD$170 thousand of the maturing convertible debentures and forbearance was provided for
the remaining USD$2.7 million until December 31, 2013 under the existing tenns aside from the repayment date.
The USD$2.7 million of the convertible debentures, along with the USD$2.0 million Working Capital Loan guarantee fee (Note 12) and
USD$4.0 million Queenwood II notes payable (Note 18) all matured as of December 31, 2013. The Company refinanced these debts
along with additional financing of USD$2.3 million from Queenwood II into USD$11.0 million of debentures. The conversion feature of the
Convertible Debentures received approval by the non-participating shareholders on February 21, 2014. The regulators approved
USD$9.0 million as convertible ("Convertible Debentures") and USD$2.0 million as non-convertible ('Debentures').
Queenwood Capital Partners LLC, Queenwood II and three directors of the Company combined hold USD$7.6 million of the Convertible
Debentures and USD$2.0 million of the Debentures.
The Convertible Debentures bear interest at 11% per annum, payable quarterly and mature on December 31, 2015. The Convertible
Debentures can be converted at any time into common shares of the Company at a rate of CDN$0.12 per share with a fixed exchange
rate of CND$1.00 = USD$0.94, for an effective conversion rate of CDN$0.1128. The Debentures bear interest at18% per annum, payable
quarterly and mature on December 31, 2015. The Company has provided a general security agreement that has been subordinated to the
Company's other secured indebtedness, as security for the debentures (Note 13).
The conversion feature in the Convertible Debentures meets the requirement for separate accounting as a component of shareholders'
equity. The conversion feature was valued at $1.1 million and recogn~ed in contributed surplus. The effective interest rate on the
Convertible Debentures is 18o/.
The initial fair value of the Debentures were recognised at USD$2.0 million, which is the face value of the Debentures.
17. Equipment loans and capital leases:
September 30,
2014
EqJipmentloens
Caplalleases

$

September 30,
2013
$

469
469

CUllllf1t porion of equipment loans and capilalleases

3,289
(2,807)

(259)

$

Long-lenn porion of equipment loans and caplalleases

Refer to Note 21 for details of required payments for the equipment loans and capital leases.
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HSBC Non-revolving Equipment Loans
The Company had equipment loans that carried interest at rates that range from HSBC Bank Prime + 1.75% to 3.75% and matured in
2014. During the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company repaid the balance of the loans.

Caterpillar Financial Services Corporation ("Caterpillar") Loan Facility
During the year anded September 30, 2010, the Company entered into loans to purchase power generation, heat recovery equipmant and
electrical control systems for $3.5 million. The loans carried interest rates of 8.5% per annum.
During the year ended September 30, 2014 the $0.7 million remaining balance of the Caterpillar loans was repaid with proceeds from the
Callidus loan (Note 13).

Capital/eases
The Company has various capital leases for equipment with maturity dates that range from fiscal 2014 to 2018 and interest rates that
range from 5.6% to 19.9'/• The Company has pledged the acquired assets as security for the capital leases.
During the year ended September 30, 2014 capital leases with remaining balances of $0.3 million were repaid with proceeds from the
Callidus loan (Note 13).

18. Notes payable:
September 30,
2014

$

Former mining conlractor
Queanwood II

2,000
12,584

September 30,
2013

$

14,584
(2,000)

Current po!1ion of nOO.S pay able

$

Long-term po!1ion of no¥ls payable

12,584

2,679
4,255
6,934
(4,934)

$

2,000

Queenwood II- USD$12.0 million promiss01y note
On July 2, 2014 the Company executed a USD$12.0 million promissory note with Queenwood II to replace its $12.0 million Working
Capital Loan facility with HSBC which expired June 30, 2014 (Note 12). The maturity date for the Queenwood II promissory note is
October 1, 2015. Interest is payable at 12% per annum with interest payable quarterly on March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31 of each year, with any remaining accrued and unpaid interest payable on the maturity date. Transaction costs associated
with the execution of the promissory note were $157 thousand including $100 thousand to Queenwood II. The Company has provided a
ganeral security agreemant that has been subordinated to the Company's other secured Indebtedness, as securtty for the promissory note
(Note 13). Two directors of the Company collectively own all of the issued and outstanding units of Quaanwood II.
The interest rate charged by Queenwood II was determined to be lass than the market interest rate for the Company. As Queenwood II is
considered a related party, this resulted in a capital contribution of $0.8 million recorded into contributed surplus and accretion being
recognised over the term of the promissory note. The initial canying value of the loan was $11.8 million and the effective interest rate on
the promissory note is 12'/•

.Former mining contractor- promissory notes
In April2013 the Company reached an agreement with a former mining contractor on a schedule of payments on the final amount due in
respect of a contract under which mining services were provided at the Can tung mine.
The Company Issued two promissory notes to the former mining contractor to settle the accounts payable amount with the following terms:
i.
A $2.0 million note bearing interest at 6.0% per annum, with equal monthly principal installments of $226 thousand on the last
day of the month commancing on April30, 2013 up to and including December 31, 2013. This promissory note was fully repaid
at December 31, 2013.
ii.
A $2.0 million note bearing interest at 8.0%, with interest only payable on the last day of the month commencing on
April30, 2013 up to and including December 31,2014 with the principal then due.
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The Company has pledged certain mobile equipment as security for the promissory notes. The initial financial liability was recognised al
the $4.0 million accounts payable balance thai was settled with the issuance of the notes payable and is subsequently carried at amortized
cost using the effective interest method.
Queenwood II- USD$4.0 million note payable
In June 2013the Company executed a USD$4.0 miUion short-term credit facility with Queenwood II. The facility carried interest at 12.5%
per annum. matured on October 31, 2013. The security granted was subordinated to security previously granted.
On October 31, 2013the Queenwood II short-term credit facility matured and forbearance was provided to December 31, 2013 under the
existing terms aside from the repayment date. On December 31, 2013 the USD$4.0 million note payable was refinanced in the
USD$9.0 million Convertible Debentures financing (Note 16).
19. Reclamation liabilities:
The Company's total undiscounted amount of estimated future cash flows required to setUe the Cantung mine reclamation obligation is
$9.8 million (September 30, 2013 - $8.9 million). For financial statement purposes this hes been estimated with a market based pre-tax
discount rate of 1.4% and an average rate of inflation of 1.6% (September 30, 2013 -discount rate 1.4%, inflation rate 1.5%). Based on
the life of mine plan at September 30, 2014the estimated timing of the reciamation work was revised with the majority of the reclamation
work estimated to commence during fiscal2018through fiscal 2019. Due to the change in the estimated timing of the future reciamation
work and higher estimated costs for the reclamation of the tailings ponds, the existing reclamation liability increased by $1.3 million with a
corresponding increase to the reclamation asset.
The Cantung mine future reclamation cost was estimated by an independent engineering firm at each of September 30, 2014 and 2013.
The reclamation obtigation reflects the Company's best estimates of costs and timing of reclamation work. The estimated liability will be
revised in the future for changes to the mine reciamation plan, changes in regulations and discussions with the regulators, which could
result in increases or decreases in the amount of the reclamation provision.
September 30,
2014
Opening balance. reclamation liabilities
Accrstion
Change in estimates of future cosls
Addtions

$

Closllg balance, reclamation lia~lities

$

Current portion of reclamation liabifities
Long-l!lrm portion of reclamation liabilities

$

8,443

September 30,
2013
$

8,404
179
(140)

9,991

$

8,443

(597)
9,394

$

7,480

124
1.301
123

(963)

The Company has posted deposits of $5.9 million in cash and $5.9 million in the form of secured promissory notes which are held in
escrow as security for the mine reclamation obligations under the water icense for the Can tung mine issued by the Mackenzie Valley Land
and Water Board (Note 21 a).
20. Share capKal:
a. Common shares

An untimited number of common shares without par value are authorized.
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b. Warrants
Warrants
outstanding as of

Warrants

Issued

September 30,
2013

Expired

Exercised

~000.000

outstanding as of
September 30,
2014

Exerdse price

Expiry date

$1.00
$0.20

27.Qcl-15
31).Jun-14

~000.000

5,000,000

(5,000,000)

7,000,000

1~000,000)

~000,000

During the year ended September 30, 2013, the Company issued 5,000,000 warrants to the Sponsors of the Working Capital Loan
Guarantee (Note 12) as part of the compensation to extend the Guarantee to December 31, 2013. The value ofthe warrants was included
in the determination of the fair value of the Guarantee. The warrants expired on June 30, 2014.
c. Share options
The Company has a rolling Share Option Plan ("Option Plan") which reserves up to a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding
shares for the granting of options to eligible participanls. The Option Plan provides that the Company's Board of Directors may from time
to time grant share options to acquire common shares to any participant who is an employee, director or consullant of the Company, The
total number of common shares that may be reserved for issuance to any one participant pursuant to options granted under the Option
Plan may not exceed 5% of the issued and oulstanding shares of the Company on the date of the grant of the share options, in any
12 month period. The maximum number of options granted to any one consultant may not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding
shares of the Company on the date of the grant of the options, in any 12 month period and the options granted to persons employed to
provide investor relation services may not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company on the date of grant of the
options, in any 12 month period. No more than an aggregate of 10% of the issued shares of the Company, within any 12 month period
may be granted to insiders; unless the Company has received disinterested shareholder approval. The options may not be granted at
pnces that are less than the discounted market price as defined in the TSX Venture Exchange policy. Each option is exercisable, subject
to vesting terms as may be determined by the Board of Directors, into one common share of the Company.
Options
outstanding as of
September 30,

Options

Granted

Exercised

Forreited

Cancelled

outstanding as of
Exp 1red
September 30,

2013

Expiry

Options

price

date

exercisable

0.15
0.19
0.28
0.42
0.19
0.19
0.14
0.10

19-0ct-14
1.fel>15
19-J.,.17

75,000
550,000
100,000
650,000
1,400,000
50,000
66,666
50,000

2014

75,000
875,000
100,000
1,050,000
1,866,667
50,000

~01~667

Exercise

(925,001)

75,000
550,000
100,000
850,000
1,400,000
50,000
66,866
150,000
3,041,666

$0.29

$0,23

(325,000)
(400,000)
(200,001)

(266,866)
100,000
150,000

(33,334)

250,000

(300,000)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

8-Mar-17

28-Mey-18
10-Jul-18
30-Nov-14
4-0ec-18

2,941,666

Weighted average exercise price

$0.25

$0.12

NIA

$0.18

NIA

$0.24

The outstanding options have a weighted average exercise price of $0.24 per share (September 30, 2013 • $0.25) and a weighted
average remaining life of 2.6 years (September 30, 2013-3.5 years).
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Share opUons granted during the year were valued using the Bleck-Scholes opUon pricing model with the following input values:
For the year ended

Exercise price
Share pnce
Expecied ill
Div iderd yield
Risk-tee interest roil
Expecied vdatilly
Calculeild fair value per opion

September 30,
2014

September 30,
2013

$0.10 lo $0.14
$0.10 lo $0.14
4.0 yearn

$0.18511l $0.19
$0.18511l $0.19
4.0 years
0%
1.2% 1:>1.6%
138% lo 139%
$0.10

0%
1.6% to 1.7%

139%
$0.051o $0.07

The share options generally ves!in thirds over 12 to 18 months. During the year ended September 30, 2014 $48 thousand was recognised
es share based compensation expense (September 30, 2013 - $358 thousand).

21. CommHments:
Contractual obligations and
commitments

Maciung leases and roy ally oplioo payment

2015
$

1,006 $

Canlung leases

56

Cusl:rner sdvances

Payments due in the years ended September 30,
2016
2017
2018
2019
6 $

56

426

6 $
56

6 $
56

Total

6 $

1,030

280

56

3,786

3,360

1,974

2,632

1,813

1,316

Capilalleases

259

135

73

2

469

1

233

245

251

84

813

Cusl:rner loans

Olice leases

Equipment purchase and rental conracls
$

200
4,154 $

3,074 $

5,559 $

1,464 $

8,064

329

391

$

200
14,642

1-Includes basic rent end essocieild commoo cost! under lhelesse
a. Water license
The Mackenzie Valley Land and Water Board ("MVLWB") issued the Company's type "A" Water license ('license"), which expires
January 29, 2016.
The security deposit required under the Company's licenses is $11.7 milfion. The Company has posted $5.9 million in cash and
$5.9 million in the form of secured promissory notes pursuant to the Reclamation Security Agreement ("RSA"). The RSA further provides

for:
•
•

the Company to post $100 thousand in cash on the 1• of September, 1• of December, 1• of March, and 1• of June to reduce
the amounts pledged under the promissory notes until nil is outstanding under the promissory notes;
the cash components payable to the Government of the Northwest Terntories ("GNWT') to increase under certain events.

The Company has provided a RSA which pledges the Maciung property as secunty for any amounts ow<tg under lhe license and monies owed by
excess of ultimate reclamation costs will ba returned to the Company.

W"'f of secured promissory notes. Any funds in

During the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company posted $400 thousand of cash and the posted secured promissory notes were
reduced by $500 thousand for the posted cash and accumulated interest In conjunction with renewing the water license beyond
January 29, 2016 the security deposit asSociated with the license may be amended.

b. Smelter royalties
The Can tung Mine is subject to a 1% net smeller royalty,
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22. Contingencies:
Pursuant to contracts with directors, in the event of a change in control of the Company, the Company would be liable for payments
totalling $0.3 million.
23. Cost of sales:
For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
Mine operating costs
Amortization and depreciation
Freight end handing
Royalties
Inventory changes, adjustments end write-downs

$

$

73,871
7,928
1,801
834
(4.346)
80,088

$

$

69,522
7,546
2.165
765
(47)
79.951

The amount of inventory sold and recognised as cost of sales in the year. together with the $0.6 million Wlite-down of tungsten concentrate
inventortes to the estimated recoverable amount in the year ended September 30, 2014 (year ended September 30, 2013- $0.9 million),
constitutes the cost of sales.
For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
$
27,867
26,371
$
18,549
17,926
14,420
13,436
13,035
11,789
73,871
69,522
$
$

Mine operating costs by function:

Mine
Power generation and surface maintenance
Site adminislraion and environmenlal
Mill

Mine operating costs by na1ure:

For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
$
21,760
20,196
$
16,256
14,461
15,892
15,206
7,616
7,154
5,067
4,768
4,677
4,542
2,603
3,195
69,522
$
73,871
$

Salartes and wages
Fuel and lubrtcants
MatErials end supplies
Freight expeclting and support services
Employee benefits
Olhercosts
Mine and drtll contracklrs
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24. Interest and financing costs:
For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
$
1,688
$
1,751
1,178
293
752
709
385
377
394
363
11
146
585
$
5,213
$
3,399

8ank loans and associaled agreemenls
Debenrures
Callidus loan
Noles payable
Olher
Custaner advances and loans
Equipment loans and cap~ leases

25. General and administrative costs:
For the yea~ ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
Fees, wages and benefils
Office expenses
Consuffing
Accounting Md audit
Lagal iles
lnvesror relations, travel and business development
Fiing iles and tnfer agenl iles
Loss on renegotiation of sales contact

$

1,214
479

$

364
349
301
204

38
$

2,949

$

3,503
450
163
242
145
217
40
1,133
5,893

Fees, wages and benefits for the yeer ended September 30, 2014 includes nil (yeer ended September 30, 2013 - $1.8 million) of
employment contract setllement expense (Note 27).
During the year ended September 30, 2013 the Company incurred a loss of $1.1 million related to accounls receivable that were written
down due to the subsequent renagotiation of a sales contract.
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26. Supplemental cash flow:
For the yeer ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
Change in non"""'h working capital:
Accoonts recBvable
Prepaid expenses
lnvenlaies
Accoonls paya~e and aa:rued tiaiJiffies

$

7,831
(56)
(6,909)
146

$

1,012

$

2,770
(62)
(2,000)
956

_;$:..___..::1,664:.:.;_

For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
Changes In accounts payable and accrued liabilities aflectlng cash flows used In lnvesUng
activities:
Expendii.Jres on prq>erty, plant and equipment
Expendilures on Mectung prq>erty

$
$

321
125

$

$

629
184

27. Related party transactions:
Directors of the Company participated direclly and indireclly in the USD$11.0 million Debenture and Convertible Debentures financing as
to USD$9.6 million (Note 16). For the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company recognised an expense of $1.0 million (year ended
September 30, 2013 • $144 thousand) of interest on these Debentures and Convertible Debentures.
On June 14, 2013 the Company and HSBC agrsed 1o terms for the extension of the $12.0 mimon Wofi<ing Capital Loan facility lo
December 31, 2013 (Note 12). HSBC provided a further extension of the loan lo June 30, 2014. Under the exten~on, the rate for the G.uarantee
increased lo 2.25% per quarter and the Guarantee and Put Agreement were extended. In exchange for extending the Guarantee and Put
Agreernen\ the Company compensated the Sponsors in the followng manner:
a. paid the Sponsors (in USD) on the lasl day of each calendar quarter, an aggregate amount equal to 2.25% (1.25% up to
December 31, 2013) of the maximum outstanding principal emount of the letter of credit during the immediately preceding
calendar quarter (or portion thereo0. payments began on March 31, 2014. For the year ended September 30, 2014 the
Company recognised an expense of $750 thousand in respect of these payments (year ended September 30, 2013 $794 thousand); and
b. reimbursed the Sponsors' expenses in respect of this transaction which totalled $34 thousand.
The guarantee fee of USD$2.0 milion, es compensation lo the Sponsors for the guarantee of the Worl<ing Cepital Loan matured, es of December
31, 2013. The Company refinanced the fee inlo the USD$2.0 mimnn Debentures (Nota 16). For the year ended September 30, 2014the Company
recogn~ed accretion of$497thousand rataled to the fee (September 30, 2013 • $1.0 million).
On June 16, 2014 HSBC issued a demand for full repayment of the loan balance and issued the Put notice, allowing HSBC to exchange
the outstanding balance of the loan with the Sponsors within 30 days. On July 2, 2014 the Company executed a USD$12.0 million
promissory note with Queenwood II (Note 18) to replace its $12.0 miltion Working Capital Loan which was then cancelled. During the year
ended September 30, 2014 the Company recognised an expense of $528 thousand (year ended September 30, 2013- nil) of interest on
the Queenwood II notes payable.
During the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company recognised $1.6 m~tion (year ended September 30, 2013 • $0.6 million) for professional
and consulting fees to directors or companies related to direclors.
Key management indudes <>rectors and officers of the Company. During the yeer ended September 30, 2014 the Company recognteed
compensation for key management of $0.3 million which indudes sateries and fees, banelils and directors fees and n~ of share-based
compensation. During the year ended September 30, 2013 the Company recognteed compensation for key management personnel of $3.4 m~Hon
which indudes salaries and fees, benelils and directors fees and $0.2 millon of share-based compensation. lnduded in the $3.4 million is
$1.8 mHHon of employment contract settlements to former executives of the Company.
The above l!llnsactions were in the nonnal course of operations.
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28. Segmented information:
The Company operates in the single business segment of tungsten mining and processing. Copper production is a by-product of that
segment.
The geographical distribution of the Company's sales revenue is as follows:
For the year ended
September 30, 2014
September 30, 2013
TUNGSlEN:
Europe
Nat\ America
Asia

$

40, 10B
39,230
3,871
83,209

COPPER:
Nat\ America

$

2,000
2,000
85,209

4B%
47%
5%
100%

$

100%
100%
$

37,738
19,618
19,409
76,825

49%
26%
25%
100%

2,993
2,993
79,818

100%
100%

All of the Company's non-current assets are located in Canada.

29. Sales and concentration of receivables:
The Company had three main delivery contracts for tungsten concentrate which expired or were replaced with new contracts during
fiscal2014, as well as a copper delivery contract. The contracts contain target delivery quantities and do not contain financial penalties for
shortfalls in target delivery quantities.
During the year ended September 30, 2014 the Company negotiated a new tungsten delivery contract in conjunction with a
USD$4.7 million loan arrangement (Note 15), with an existing customer that was effective February 1, '2014 and a new tungsten delivery
contract in conjunction with a USD$2.5 mimon loan arrangement (Note 15) with an existing customer that was effective March 1, 2014.
The Company also extended an existing copper delivery contract under similar terms to December 31, 2015.
The tungsten delivery contracts have similar terms and conditions. Each contract is for an initial term of the later of 3 years to
February 1, 2017 or the completion of the delivery quantity for the initial term. The customer has the right, at its sole discretion, to extend
the contract under the initial term until all amounts under the related loan arrangements have been repaid in run. If neither party gives
notice of termination of the contract by February 1, 2016 the contract automatically is extended for an additional year to February 1, 2018
(year 4). If neither party gives notice of termination of the contract by February 1, 2017 the contract automatically is extended for an
additional year to February 1, 2019 (year 5). The contracts contain quarterty and annual targel delivery quantities and do not contain
financial penalties for shortfalls in target delivery quantities. The contracts contain provisions that could allow the customer to terminate the
delivery contract if quantities or concentrate specifications are not achieved for three consecutive months or if target dalivery quantities are
not achieved. In the event of default by the Company under the terms of the delivery contract, the customer has the right to demand
immediate full repayment of the outstanding balance under the loan arrangement in the event of termination of the delivery contract by the
customer, the customer advances would become due on demand of the customer (Note 14).
Sales to four customers accounted for 100% of sales made in the year ended September 30, 2014 (year ended September 30, 2013100% to six customers). The Company has two major customers from which revenues individually amount to more than 10% of the total
revenue for the year ended September 30, 2014 (September 30, 2013 was four customers).
For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
40,106 $
$
19,618
39,230
27,998
18,652

Customer A
Customer 8
CustomerC
Customer D

9,740
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As at September 30, 2014, $3.0 million in receivables was due from three customers (September 30,2013-$13.8 million from three
customers).
30.

Loss per share:
Loss per share, calculated on the basic and diluted basis, is as follows:
For the year ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013

(In thousands except per share amounts)
Loss per share:
Basic and dlullld

$

(0.03)

$

(0.06)

$

(6,646)

$

(13,266)

Net loss for the year:
Atiibuted lo common shareholders -basic end dluted
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Weighted average shares outstanding- basic end <!luted

238,123

237,438

3,042
2,000
79,787
84,829

3,967
7,000
6,506
17,473

Shares excluded from the determination of diluted toss per share:
Slock o!fuls

Warrants
Conv erlible debenlures

The weighted average sharas that were excluded from the detennination of diluted earnings per share represent sharas that would be
anti-dilutive if they were included in the calculation.
There have been no significant issuances of new potentially dilutive secunties subsequent to September 30, 2014.
31. Capital management:
The Company defines its capital as cash and cash equivalents, short~erm and iong~erm financial debt, share capital and contnbuted
surplus. The Company's objectivas when managing its capital are:

•
•
•

to maintain liquidity;
to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern; and
to maximize the return to shareholders while limiting nsk exposure.

To assist in the management of the Company's capital, the Company prepares budgets and forecasts which are reviewed by the Board of
Directors. Actual results are reviewed against budget on a monthly basis and forecasts are updated. The Company may adjust its capital
structure by issuing new shares, issuing new debt, replacing existing debt, selling assets to reduce debt and reducing operating and
capital expen<iture levels.
Additional infonnation regarding capital management is disclosed in Note 1.
32. Financial risk management:
a.

Fair value estimation

The Company has financial assets which include cash and cash equivalents, acccunts receivable, denvative instruments and reclamation
deposits, the cany'ng value of which approximates fair value. The Company has financial liabilities which include accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, bank loans, equipment loans, capital leases, notes payable, customer loans, Callidus loan, debentures and the interest
beanng component of the convertible debentures, the carrying values of which may be higher than their fair value due to the Company's
liquidity position (Note 1).
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The Company's financial assets are measured and recognised accor<fing to a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs
used in making fair value measurements, based on thelowast level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement as follows:
Levell • quoted prices in active markets for identical assels or liabilities;
Level2 • inputs other than quoted prices included in Levell that are observable for the asset or liability, either directiy (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level3 • inputs for the asset or liability that are not based upon observable market data.
Categories of financial instruments
The estimated fair values of the Company's financial assets and liabilities were determined based on Level 2 inputs. The Company has no
financial assets or liabilities that have fair value detennined based on Level 3 inputs.
The Company has detennlned the estimated fair values of its financial instruments basad upon appropriate valuation methodologies. The
following table shows the carrying value of financial assets and tiabilities for each category of financial instruments:
September 30,
2014
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equiv alen~
Accounts receivable
Reciamaion deposits

$

363
3,847
5,931

September 30,
2013

$

Flir·va/ue-1/lroulj>-profd or loss
USO/CON illward exchange rate conlracts

29

Financial liabilities
Other financial ffabllities
Accounts payable and accrued Habiities
B111k loans
Caltidus loer
Custaner loans
Oebenb.Jres & conve!lble debentures Qnterest bearing pa1ion)
Equipmenlloans and capilalleases
Noles pay able
b.

203
14,383
5,469

$

16,426
10,128
8,084
11,564
469
14,584

$

16,416
24,679

2,917
3,289
6,934

Financial risk factors

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial risks. The type of risk exposures and the way in which such exposure
is managed is as follows:
i. Foreign exchange risk

The Company operates on an international basis and therefore foreign exchange risk exposures arise from transactions
denominated in a foreign currency. The foreign exchange risk arises primarily with respect to the USD as sales are
denominated in USD. For the year ended September 30, 2014, with other variables unchanged a $0.01 strengthening
(weakening) of the Canadian dollar against the USD would result in a decrease (increase) of $0.8 million on net earnings
(September 30, 2013 • $0.8 million).
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As at September 30, 2014 and 2013 the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in USD at settlement values:
September 30,
2014

September 30,
2013

USD
Cash and cash equiv alenls
Accounls receivabie
Accounls payable

$

(257)

USD
$

2,714
(339)

Bank loans
Custaner edv ancas
Custaner loans
Debenlures
EC~Jipment loans and ca~laf leases
Noles payabie

(3,000)
(7,200)
(11,000)

$

(12,000)
(31,082)

$

(2,489)
13,539
(320)
(1,529)
(7,825)
(2,870)
(1,070)
(4,000)
(6,564)

ii. Credit risk
The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to the financial
instruments. Credit exposure is minimized by dealing with only credit worthy counterparties. Accounts receivable for three of
the primary customers totalled $3,0 million at September 30, 2014 (September 30, 2013 - three customers totalled
$13.8 miHion). At September 30, 2014, no trade and other receivables were past due or impaired.
The maximum exposure of the Company to credit risk is represented by all financial assets as shown in the statement of
financial position. Cash and cash equivalents are deposned with high credit quality financial institutions as determined by
ratings agencies,
iii, Interest rate risk
The Company's interest rate risk mainly arises from the interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and variable interest
rates paid on debt instruments. The interest rate management policy is generally to borrow at fixed rates to match the duration
of the long lived assets. Floating rate funding may be used for short-term borrowing, Cash and cash equivalents receive
interest based on market rates.
For the year ended September 30, 2014, wnh other variables unchanged, a 1.0% increase in the HSBC Bank prime rate would
decrease net earnings by $0.2 million for the year.
iv. Uquidny risk
The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalent balances and by utilizing debt
instruments to meet short-term cash requirements while managing accounts payable and accounts receivables, Management
continuously monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash Hews and also matches the maturity profile of financial
assets and liabilities. The Company's cash and cash equivalents are invested in bank accounts and demand deposits which
are available on demand for the Company's programs. Additional information regarding liquidity risk is disclosed in Note 1. The
Company's contractual obligations are disclosed in Note 21.
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Contractual undiscounted cash flow requirements for financial liabilities as at September 30, 2014 are as follows:
Payments due in years ended September 30~

2015

NOO!s payable

16,426
10,550
1,974
2,000

0-IJres
Caplalleases

286
31,236 $

Accooms payable and accrued liabilities

Calidus 1oM
Cuslllner loans

2017

2,632
13,440

2018

More than 5

2019

1,813

1,316

147

72

2

28,539 $

1,885 $

1,318 $

Total

years

329

1~320

$

33.

2016

329 $

$
$
$
$
$
$

16,426
10,550
8,064
15,440

$

113,307

1~320

fiJI

Deferred Income taxes:
Income tax expense differs from the amount that would result from applying the Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates to net
loss before income taxes. These differencas result from the following items:
For the years ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013
$
(7,168)
$
(13,266}
26.50%
26.50%
$
(1,900) $
(3,515}

Loss befOre income taxes
Cana<ien laderal and provincial income lax rales
Income lax reoovocy based on lhe above rallls
Increase (decrease) due to:
NOIH!educible expenses
Foreign exchange ood olher
Di1ferences belN eoo foreign end Cenedoo lax rales
Chooges in unrec<>Jnized deferred lax assets
Income tax expense (recovery)

$

$

The components of deferred income ood mining lax as are as follows:

Unrec<>Jnized deferred lax assets:
Non-capital losses
Share issuance cosls ood olher
Prtl)erty, plant and eqtJpment end mineral property inleresls
Capitalleases end loans
Capitallosses
Reclamalon liablles
Total unrecognized deferred tax assets

213
476
689
(522)

230
(57)
3,342

$

For the years ended
September 30,
September 30,
2014
2013

$

9,646
157
7,341
(14)
737
2,647

$

PAGE30

$

20,514

$

9,400
175
6,385

646
782
2,237
....;$_ _1....;9,_82_5
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At September 30,2014 the Company has non-capital losses of approximately $35.9 million (September 30, 2013 • $34.5 million) which are
not recognised as defemad tax assets. The Company recognises the benefit of tax assets only to the extent of anticipated future taxable
income that can be reduced by the tax losses. The gross amount of the non-capital tax losses for which a tax benefit has not been
recorded expire as follows:
2028
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034

$

5,665
11,746
11,279
626
5,687
862

$

35,865

In addition to the non-capital losses, the Company has a capital loss in the United States of approximately USD$2.1 million that expires in
2017 and capital losses of $0.2 million in Canada with no expiry date.

34. Subsequent events:
Queenwood II- Promissory note
Subsequent to September 30, 2014 the Company executed a promissory note with Queenwood II for up to a maximum aggregate
principal amount of USD$3.0 million. The Company has drawn the full amount on the promissory note. lntarest is payable at a rate of 18%
per annum with interest payable quarteny in arrears on March 31, June 30, Septamber 30 and December 31 of each year, with any
remaining accrued and unpaid interest payable on maturity. The Company has provided a general security agreement that has been
subordinated to the Company's other secured indebtadness, as security for the promissory note (Note 13). Two directors of the Company
collectively own all of the issued and outstanding units of Queenwood II.

Cal/idus loan
Subsequent to September 30, 2014the Company extended the Catlidus loan (Note 13) to May 31, 2016 and borrowed additional funds of
$3.65 million. The Interest rate and monthly principal repayment tenms remain unchanged. Callidus earned a facility fee in the amount of
$154 thousand in respect of the increase and extension of the loan agreement, which is due at maturity. Of the additional funds received,
$2.0 million was used to repay a promissory note that matured on December 31, 2014 (Note 18). The remaining proceeds will be used for
capital projects and working capital. The repayment of any principal amounts to debenture holders and Queenwood II is fully subordinated
to the repayment of the Callldus loan.
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31, 2015 AND SEPTEMBER 30, 2014
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
UNAUDITED
March 31,
2015

Nole(s)

September 30,
2014

ASSETS
current assels
Cash
ACCO!Jlts

Inventories
Prepaid experoes

Accounts receivable
Propeoly, ~011 and E!IJJ.,.,ent
Minera prope:ty - Mactung
Redamalion deposils

1,665 $

3
4

642
14,613
1,159
18,079

363
1,252
14,064
944
16,623

3
5

2,598
27,924
19,863
6,163

2,595
27,149
19,661
5,931

$

74,717 $

71,959

$

13,939 $
12,907
743
2,977
13,418
1,135
18,512
597

16,426
10,128
426
1.974

64,228

31,810

3,800
5,399

9,466
84,387

3,360
6,090
11.564
210
12,564
9.394
75.012

84,836
7,762
(82,268)
(9,670)
74,717 $

64,836
7,762
(75,651)
(3.063)
71,959

$
receiva~e

13 & 15

LIABILITIES
Current liabililes
Accomts payable and accrued labilities
Calidus 1001
Current palon of cusl:mer advances
Current porloo of cusl:mer IOSlS
CLmlltporlon ofdebenb.in!s
Current pa1on of equ.,.,ent loans and capital leases
Current porion of.- pay able
Current porion of reclamation ~~~lilies
Cusklmer advances
CusiJmer loans
OebeniJres
Equipment loans and capital leases
Notes pay~e
Redamalion l~biliies

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
8
9
10
11
12
13

1,495

259
2,000
597

SHARE CAPITAL AND DEFICIT
Share capital
Cootibuted surplus
Deficn

14
14

$

Gting coocem
Ccmmiinents and cootirgencies
ON BEHALF OF 1H E BOARD

'sirf>ed"
KtJ!E. Heikkila

"sirf>ed"
B~ceM.

A. Pllller

The accompanylng notes are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statements

15 & 16
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NORTH AMmiCAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FORTHETHREEANO SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015AND 2014
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS EXCEPT FOR Pm SHARE AMOUNTS
UNAUDITED

For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014

Nolll(s)

$

REVENUES
COST OF SALES

17

GROSS MARGIN
EXPENSES
Fcreign excha1ge loss
Interest and financing costs
General rm a:lministrative costs
Accretion of financial liabilities

Wnill<ll ofoptioo paymenls • Mo:tJrg
Ex ploralion
Sham-based cotr'4)e11Saion
loss oo revaluation of derivatives
Gain on disposal of assets

7,10&12
15c

The accompanying notes are an in/J!gfal pan ofthese consolidated financial statements

44,949 $

43,525

22,488

17,694

39,971

39,771

963

S,:llil

4,978

3,754

3,733

595
1,373

5,113
3,695
1,551
1,032
300

1,113
2,425
1,488
719

B44
147

121
32
29

IS)

NET INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Wei!jlted BV8!'9J6 number of shares {in tlousands)
Basic and diluted

23,003

2

Interest and chr lrrone

lncome(k>ss) per shamBasic ard diluted

23,451 $

2,012
677
488
300

16

For lhe six months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014

$

(38)

(59)

(91)

(1119)

IMO'I)

~467

1~617)

(2.1162)

(0.03)

238,123

$

0,01

236,123

$

(0.03)

238,123

$

(0.01)

238,123
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE ANO SIX MONTHS ENDEO MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
UNAUDITED

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net incane Qoss)
II!Jms nol ali!cting cash:
Amatizalion and deprecialoo
Acaeion a lnanciallialililes
Acaeloo a reclamation liialililes
lnvmtay wlile-cbNn
Wri1e<lll of option paym811s- Maclung
Fonign ex change loss
Shllll>based compensaioo
Loss on 11l'Jaluaioo of derivatives
lnnl and ln01cing cos Is
Adjuslnent ir.
Change in rm<:ash woil<ing capital
Increase in rec:larnatioo deposits

For the six months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014

For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014

Note(s)

$

5
7, 10& 12
13
17
15c

19
13& 15

(Ml7) $

2,467

(6,617) $

(2.062)

1,214
488
35
192
300
3,739

1,787
147
30

3,531
719
61

596

2,481
1,032
71
192
300
4,954

1,938

1,389

2,819'

1,176
32
29
2,441

1,497

6,416

5,232

5,927

(4,522)
(100)
1,794

(2,933)
(200)
2,099

(1,725)
(200)
4,002

(315)
(1,631)
(1,946)

(476)
(955)
(1,431)

(556)
(3,459)
(4,015)

(556)

(345)

(1,955)
2,257
(678)
(2,785)

636

(100)
2,033

$

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
ExpendiJieon Maclung property
Pun:ltase of property, ~1111 and eqtjpmenl

(154)
(627)
(781)

5

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Equqxn81lloans !i1d ca~lalleases
llebenlures, nel
Noles payabl~ net
Opemting Loan, ne1
Callidus losn ne1

Cusbner advances
Cusl:meriO!i1S
lnnl and ln!i1cing cosls paid

11
10
12

(182)

1.094
1,449
(1,794)

7
8
9

(509)
(1,934)
(742)
(1,938)
{5,305)

Elfecl of exchanga rail changes on cash

10

CHANGE IN CASH

(t043)

CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD

5,708
$

CASH, END OF PERIOD
Sup;jemenlal cash lcm inbmalon

19

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statements

1,665 $

2,762
(1,389)
107
31
{14)
16
2 $

2,681
311
(742)
(2,819)
535

5,421
(2,441)
{181)

99

(7)

1,302

{201)

383
1,665 $

203
2
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014
FIGURES IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS EXCEPT NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES
UNAUDITED
For the ~x months ended March 31, 2014

Number of
Note(s)

common

Share capital

shares
Balance at Octnb.-1, 2013

238,123,058 $

64,836 $

Canv ersial feallre d com Eillble debenklres
Share-based~

Contributed
surplus
~267

Delicil

$

Total equity

(69,005) $

14

Net loss

(2.1162)

(2,1162)

Balance at March 31, 2014

238,123,058 $

64,836 $

7,«JJ $

2.008
1,108
32

1,108
32
(71,1167) $

1,176

For the six months ended March 31, 2015

Note(s)

Number of
common

Share capital

shares

Balance at Octnber 1, 2014
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2015

238,123,058 $
238,123,058 $

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statements

64,836 $
64,836 $

Contributed
surplus

Deficit

Total equity

7,762 $

(7~651)

7,762 $

(6,617)
(82.268) $

$

(3,1153)
(6,611)
(9,670)
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NORTH AMERICAN TUNGSTEN CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FDR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,2015 AND 2014
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
1.

Nature of operations and going concern:
North American Tungsten Corporation Lid. (the "Company') is engaged in tungsten mining and related activities including acquisition,
exploration, development and procassing of ore and concentrates. The Company owns the Cantung mine in the Northwest Territories: the
Mactung mineral property on the border of Yukon and Northwest Territories: and other tungsten exploration prospects. The Company is
incorporated under the Canadian Business Corporations Act. The address of the head office is suite 1640-1188 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.
These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going concern,
which assumes that the Company will be able to continue operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. There are conditions and events that cast signiftcant doubt on the validity of this
assumption.
For the six months ended March 31, 2015 the Company recorded a net loss of $6.6 million (year ended September 30, 2014- net loss of
$6.6 million). At March 31. 2015 the Company had a working capital deficiency of $46.1 million (September 30, 2014 - $15.2 million) and
shareholders' deficit of $9.7 million (September 30, 2014- deficit of $3.1 million).
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern depends upon continued support from its shareholders, lenders and customers.
Earnings and cash flows are impacted by changes in price for tungsten concentrates and foreign exchange rates. The Company will need
to generate positive net earnings. To accompl~h this, the Company has substantially completed a mine and mill improvement program
which has increased mill throughput and metallurgical recovery. In addition, it will be necessary to roll-over, extend, replace or refinance
ex~ting loan facilities as they mature, arrange new financing or convert existing debts Into equity. The Company has initiated a severe
cash conservation program and is considering other operational and financial alternatives.
If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these financial statements, adjustments would be necessary to the carrying
values of assels and liabilities, reported expenses and classifiCation used in the statement of financial position. The adjustments would be
material.

2.

Significant accounting policies:
a.

Basis of preparation

The interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards ("I FRS") applicable to the preparation of interim financial statements, including lAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting.
These interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's most recently issued annual audited consolidated
financial statements which includes information useful to understanding the Company's business and financial statement preparation. In
particular, the Company's significant accounting policies were presented in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended September 30, 2014 and have been consistently applied in the preparation of these interim financial statements except as
described in Note 2(b) below.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a h~torical cost basis except for financial instruments classrried as fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") which are stated at their fair value.
The Board of Direclors approved these financial statements on May 28, 2015.
b.

Adoption of new and amended IFRS pronouncements

IFRIC 21- Levies
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant
legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be
anticipated before the specified minimum threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 was adopted on October 1, 2014. The adoption of this standard
did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, Z015 AND Z014
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
3.

Accounts receivable:

Trade receiv a~es
Taxes and olher receiv a~es

$

Current porion of accounls receivable
lorg-tenn porion of eccourrls receivable
4.

March 31,
2015
2.752
588
3,340
(842)

Z.698

$

September 30,
2014
$
3,039

808

$

Inventories:
September 30,
2014

March 31,
2015
Turgslen concenlrails
Copper concentrates
Ore stock~le
Malerials aild sup~ies

$

$

5.

3,847
(1,252)
3,595

4,986
117
4,251
5,259

$

14.613

$

3,788

86
5,301
4,889
14,064

Property, plant and equipment:
Equipment
under captal

lease

Buiklngs,
equipment and
plant

Mine
iniastrucrure

...as

Tailings
management

Total

Net book vatu~ September 30. 2014

$

652 $

21,159 $

1,043 $

4,295 $

27,149

Opening cost 0,_ 1, 2014

$

51,716 $

40,190 $
366

19,323 $
354

112,220
3,256

$

991 $
2.534
(413)
3,112 $

413
52,129 $

40,558 $

19,677 $

115,476

$

339 $

30,557 $

39,147 $

15,028 $

85,071

202

513

2,481

15,541 $
4,136 $

87,552

Addioos

Transilr between callgories
En<i"l cost March 31, 2015
Opening I>Oance, accunulaled depreciatioo and impairmen~.
Octl>er 1, 2014

116
(152)

Depreciatioo

1,650
152

Transilr between callgories
End"ii balance accumualeri deprecation and impairmanls,
March 31, 2015

$

303 $

32,359 $

39,349 $

Net book value, M.-ch 31, 2015

$

2.809 $

19,770 $

1,209 $

27,924

Total additions for the three months ended March 31, 2015 were $2.6 million (three months ended March 31, 2014- $2.2 million).
In connection with the Callidus Capital Corporation ('Callidus") loan, the Company has entered into a general security agreement which
includes all property, plant and equipment (Note 7) except for specfic assets which are held as security under equipment loans and capital
leases (Note 11 ).
At March 31, 2015 the Company reviewed the indicators of impairment for the Cantung mine and although there remain indicators of
impainment. the review suggests that there is no further impainment.
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6.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
September 30.
tll14

March 31,
2015
Trade payables
Proper1y, plant and equipment and Ma:tung proper!¥ costs pay able

$

Rcrt allies pay able
Other pay abies and accrued liabUities
$

7.

9,663

7,356
257
5,003
1,323

$

13,939

$

16,426

$

10,128

446
4,562
1,755

Callidus loan:
Balance at September 30, 2014
Additional borrowings
Transaction cosls
Principal repaymants
Accrelion
Balance at March 31, 2015

3,650
(214)
(909)

252
12.907

$

On December 30, 2014 the Company extended the maturity date of the Callidus loan to May 31, 2016 and borrowed additional funds of
$3.65 million. The loan remains due on demand with an interest rate of 18% per annum and monthly principal repayments of
$150 thousand through the date of maturity. Callidus earned a facility fee in the amount of $154 thousand in respect of the increase and
extension of the loan agreement which is due at maturity. The Company has provided security in the form of a first charge over all assets
of the Company, excluding the Mactung property, accounts recevable from a customer, assets under equipment loans and capital leases
and all mining and mineral leases, claims and tenures.
Of the additional loan proceeds, $2.0 million was used to repay a promissory note that matured on December 31, 2014 (Note 12). The
remaining proceeds were used for capital projects and working capital.
8.

Customer advances:
March 31,
2015

September 30,
2014

Cusi:Jmer advances
Current porion of cusi:Jmer advances

$

4,543
(743)

$

3,786
(426)

long-term porion of cusi:Jmer advances

$

3,800

$

3,360

During fiscal 2014 the Company entered into a new tungsten delivery contract with an existing customer. Under the terms of the new
delivery agreement, the pre-existing USD$3.0 million customer advance, now bears interest at 3.0% per annum. The customer advance is
repayable by February 1, 2017 (the end of the initial contract term) or by mutual agreement by February 1, 2019 (the end of the optional
contract renewal periods).
During fiscal2014 the Company executed a supplier financing agreement with a customer and the customer's financial institution whereby
the customers financial institution pays for tungsten concentrate shipments within 3 to 5 business days of being invoiced. The financial
institution charges a fee for providing this service of which $194 thousand was expensed in interest and financing costs for the six months
ended March 31, 2015. Due to the provisions in the tungsten delivery contract, the Company had been paid for shipments that had not
been recognised as revenue at March 31, 2015, resulting in a $0.7 million customer advance.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,2015 AND 2014
FIGURES ARE IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS

9.

Customer loans:
March 31,
2015

Septembar 30,
2014

Cuslomer loans
Current pO!Iion of cuslomer loans

$

8,376
(2,9n)

$

8,064
(1,974)

Long-term pOllion of cuslomarloans

$

5,399

$

6,090

On December 19, 2013, the Company entered Into a new tungsten delivery contract with an existing customer. In conjunction with the
tungsten delivery contract, a loan was arranged for USD$2.5 million and the ex~ting USD$2.2 million advance from the customer was
rolled into the loan. The combined USD$4.7 million loan matures on December 31, 2018 and bears interest at 3.0% per annum payable
quarterty. Equal principal repayments of USD$293,750 per quarter commenced on March 31, 2015 and continue each quarter thereafter
wrrh the final payment on December 31, 2018.
On February 20. 2014, the Company entered into a new tungsten delivery contract with another ex~ting customer. In conjunction with the
tungsten delivery contract, a loan was arranged for USD$2.5 million. The loan matures on March 31,2017 and bears interest at 3.0% par
annum payable quarterly. Equal principal repayments of USD$293,750 par quarter commenced on March 31, 2015 and continue each
quarter thereafter with the final payment of USD$150,000 on March 31. 2017.
10. Debenttlfes:
Balance at September 30, 2014
Accrelion
Loss on fore~n exchange
Balance at March 31, 2015

$

11,564

$

323
1,531
13,418

Of the USD$11.0 million outstanding in debentures, USD$9.0 million are convertible ('Convertible Debentures") and USD$2.0 million are
non-convertible ("Debentures"). Queenwood Capital Partners LLC. Queenwood Caprral Partners II LLC ('Queenwood II") and three
directors of the Company combined hold USD$7.6 million of the Convertible Debentures and USD$2.0 million of the Debentures.
The Convertible Debentures bear interest at 11% per annum. payable quarterly and mature on December 31. 2015. The Convertible
Debentures can be converted at any time into common shares of the Company at a rate of CDN$0. 12 per share with a fixed exchange
rate of CND$1.00 = USD$0.94, for an effective conversion rate of CDN$0. 1128. The Debentures bear interest at 18% per annum, payable
quarterly and mature on December 31, 2015. The Company has pro~ded a general security agreement that has been subordinated to the
Company's other secured indebtedness, as securtty for the debentures. Notwithstanding the maturity date of December 31, 2015 the
repayment of any prtncipal amounts to debenture holders is fully subordinated to the repayment of the Callidus loan which has a maturey
date of May 31, 2016.
11. Equipment loans and capital leases:
March 31,
2015

September 30,
2014

Equipment loans and capi!IJ leases
Current p!ll1ion of eq~pment loans and capital leases

$

2,530
(1, 135)

$

469
(259)

Long-term pOllion of eqlipment loans and capilalleases

$

1.495

$

210

Refer to Note 15 for details of required payments for the capital leases.
The Company has vartous capital leases for equipment with maturity dates in fiscal2015 through 2020 and interest rates that range from
5.6% to 19.6%. The Company has pledged the acquired assets as security for the equipment ·loans and capital leases.
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12. Notes payable:
March 31,
2015
Fonner mining conlraclor
Queenwood II

$

Current pornon of notes pay able

18,512

$

2,000
12,584

18,512
(18,512)

14,584
(2,000)

$

Long·lenn pornon of notes pay able

Septembar 30,
2014

$

12.584

Queenwood /1- USD$3.0 million promissory note
On October 24, 2014 the Company executed a promissory note with Queenwood II for up to a maximum aggregate pnncipal amount of
USD$3.0 million. The Company has drawn the full amount on the promissory note. Interest is payable at a rate of 18% per annum wtth
interest payable quarterly in arrears on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year, with any remaining accrued and
unpaid interest payable on matunty. The promissory note is repayable on demand with no specffied matunty date. The Company has
provided a general secunty agreement that has been subordinated to the Company's other secured indebtedness, as securtty for the
promissory note (Note 7). Two directors of the Company collectively own all of the issued and outstanding units of Queenwood II.

Queenwood /1- USD$12.0 million promissory note
In 2014 the Company executed a USD$12.0 million promissory note with Queenwood II. The maturtty date for the Queenwood II
promissory note is October 1, 2015. Interest is payable at 12% per annum with interest payable quarterly on March 31, June 30,
September 30 and December 31 of each year, with any remaining accrued and unpaid interest payable on the matunty date. The
Company has provided a general secunty agreement that has been subordinated to the Company's other secured indebtedness, as
secunty for the prom~sory note (Note 7).

Former mining contractor- promissory note
The Company issued a promissory note to a former mining contractor to settle an accounts payable amount. On December 31, 2014the
$2.0 million promissory note was repaid with proceeds from the Callidus loan (Note 7).
13. Reclamation liabilities:
The Company's total undiscounted amount of estimated future cash flows required to settle the Cantung mine reclamation obligation is
$9.8 million (September 30, 2014 - $9.8 million). For financial statement purposes this has been estimated with a market based pre-tax
discount rate of 1.4% and an average rate of inflation of 1.6%. Based on the life of mine plan al September 30, 2014 the timing of the
majonty of reclamation work is estimated to commence during fiscal2018 through fiscal2019.
March 31,
2015
Opening balance, reclamation liabilllies
Accretion
Change in estimates of fulure cos Is
Additions
Closing balance, reclamelion liarnlities

$

9,991
71

$

$

10,062

$

$

(597)
9,465

$

Current porion of reclamelion liabiWies

Long-term porion of reclamalion liabilities

Septembar 30,
2014
8,443
124
1,301
123
9,991
(597)
9,394

The Company has posted depostts of $6.2 million in cash and $5.5 million in the fonn of secured promissory notes which are held in
escrow as security for the mine reclamation oblgations under the water license for the Cantung mine issued by the Macl<enzie Valley Land
and Water Board ('MVLWB') (Note 15 a).
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14. Share capital:
a. Common shares
An unlimned number of common shares without par value are authorized.
b. Warrants
The Company has 2,000,000 warranls oulslanding with an exercise price of $1.00 per share and an expiry dale of October 27, 2015.
c. Share options
Options

Options

outstanding as of

Expired outstanding as of

September 30.

Granted

Exercised

Forldted

CMcelled

Exerdse
price·

Marcl131,
21!15

2014

E>plry
date

Options

exercisable

75,C03
550,000
100,000
550,000
1,400,000
50,000
66,666
150,000

(75,000)
1550,000)

~041,666

(791,666)

2,250,000

2.200.1100

$0.18

$0.25

$0.26

Weighted average exercise price
N/A
$0.23

• $
• $

100,000
550,000
1,300,000
50,000
•
150,000

(100,000)
(66,666)

N/A

N/A

N/A

$
$
$
$
$
$

0.15
0.19
0.28
0.42
0.19
0.19
0.14
0.10

1!).()c>14
1·Feb-15
11>Jo:!-17

100,000
650,000
1,300,000
50,000

S.Mar·17

28-May-18
11)Jue18
:IQ.Nov-14
4-[)ec.18

100,000

The oulstanding options have a weighted average exercise price of $0.25 per share (September 30, 2014 · $0.24) and a weighted
average remaining life of 2.8 years (September 30, 2014-2.6 years).
There were no share options granted during the six months ended March 31, 2015. During the six months ended March 31, 2015 nil was
recognised as share-based compensation (six months ended March 31,2014.$32 thousand).

15. Commitments:
Payments due in the years ended September 3~

Contractual obligations and

2015 1

commitments
Mocb;ngleases

$

4 $

Cantung leases and otter agreements
Equipment loans and caplalleases
Ofice !eases

2

Equipment purchases

21!16
6 $

21!17
6 $

2018

6 $

21!19

Total

21l21l

6 $

6 $

'!2J

269

293

316

649

1,91l0

600

1,066

752

152

29

9

2,630

177

245

251

84

757

1,294
$

34

226

1,294

2.301 $

1,566 $

1 • Commitments are br the remaiOOer of fiscal2015
2-Includes basic rent and. associaed common costs under the lease
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1,278 $

535 $

351

I

664

$

~695
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a. Water license
The MVLWB issued the Company's lype 'A' Water Ucense ('license') for tt1e Canlung mine, which expires January 29, 2016.
The securily deposit required under the Company's licenses is $11.7 million. The Company has posted $6.2 million in cash and
$5.5 million in the form of secured prom~sory notes pursuant to the Reclamation Secunly Agreement ('RSA'). The RSA further provides
for:
•
the Company to post $tOO thousand in cash on the 1• of September, 1•' of December, 1• of March, and 1" of June to reduce
the amounts pledged under the promissory notes until nil is outstanding under the promissory notes;
•
the cash components payable to the Government of the Northwest Terntories ('GNWT') to increase under certain events.
The Company has provkled a RSA whdl pledges the Mactung properly as securily for any amounts Oiling under the Cantung water license and
monies owed by way of secured promissory notes. Any funds in excess of ultimate reclamation costs will be returned to the Company.
During the six months ended March 31, 2015 the Company posted $200 thousand of cash towards the reclamation deposit. The Company is
currently in discussions with the GNWT regarding the long tenm reclamation plan and amount of reclamation security for an amendment to
the Cantung water license to allow for the dry stack tailings facility and subsequent renewal of the water license beyond January 29, 2016.
The securoy deposit associated with the renewed license may be materially higher than the currently required deposit, with the potential
deposit ranging from $15.2 million to $30.9 million, in cash and other securily.

b. Cantung smelter royalties
The Cantung Mine is subject to a 1% net smelter royally.
c. Mactung smelter royalties
On January 31, 2005 the Company entered into an Amended Royalty Agreement on the Mactung property with Teck Resources Limned
('Teck'). For $100 thousand (paid) Teck granted the Company an option (the 'Option') to reduce the Mactung royally from a 4% net
sme~er return ('NSR') to a 1% NSR. As the Company did not exercise the Option by March 30, 2010. it paid an additional $200 thousand
(paid) to Teck to maintain the Option. The Option was exerc~able by the Company upon paying to Teck an additional $1.0 million by the
earlier of:
•
March 30, 2015; or
•
60 days after the receipt of a water license issued in connection with any proposed development of the properties (as such term
is defined in the Mactung Royalty Agreement) for mineral production.
The Option expired unexercised on March 30, 2015. As a result, the historical Option payments were written off in the amount of
$0.3 million. The Company maintains the right to reduce the 4% NSR to 2% NSR with a payment of $2.5 million to Teck at any time.
16. Contingencies:
Pursuant to contracts with directors, in the event of a change in control of the Company, the Company would be liable for payments
totalling $0.3 million.

17. Cost of sales:
For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014
Mine operating cos~
Am011i:zalion and depreciation
Freight and handUng

$

Roy~lies

lnveniJry changes, a~uslm~ and wrife.<jowns
$

16,117
1,214
430
230
2,497
22,466

$

19,395
1,767
645

For the six months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014
$

225

$

(4,366)
17,694

$

36,346
2,461
606
441
(105)
39,971

$

$

38,005
3,531
1,073
425
(3,263)
39,771

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2015, the Company recorded an inventory write.<fown of tungsten concentrates to net
real~able value totalling $0.2 million (three and six months ended March 31,2014- nil).
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Mioo opemlng cas!! by funcloo:

$

Mine
Pa.ver generation and surface mainlenance
Sile adminolralion end environmenlal
MiU

$

Mioo operaing cos!! by nafure:

Salalies and W"les
Materials end supplies
Fuel and lubricanls
Freight. expediting and supportse!V~es
Employee benelts

$

O~er cos!!

Mine and drill coolra:llrs

$

For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2014
2015
6,966
$
7,564
4,310
5,002
3,523
3,605
3,318
3,224
18,117
$
19,395
For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014
5,564
$
5,730
4,293
3,836
3,699
4,816
1,873
1,878
1,376
1,363
961
1,064
331
708
18,117
$
19,395

$

$

$

$

For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014
13,433
14,492
$
8,930
9,832
7,177
7,192
6,608
6,489
36,005
36,348
$
For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2014
2015
11,028
10,907
$
8,622
7,995
7,744
8,981
3,796
3,722
2,470
2,521
1,876
2,213
812
1,666
36,348
38,005
$

18. Interest and financing costs:

Noies paya~e
CaiHdus loan
Debentures
Olher
Customer advances end loans
Eqwpment loans and capllalleeses
Bank loans and associaled .,reemenls

For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014
620
40
$
612
421
344
201
175
100
141

$

58
2.012

$

$

46
$

627
1,373

$

For the six months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2015
2014
1,142
$
221
1,090
810
418
396
304
188
218
69
104
1,160
3,695
$
2.425

19. Supplemental cash How:
For the three months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2014
2015
Change in non-cash working capital:
Accounbi receivable
Prepaid ex penses
lnvenDries
Accounts pay a~ end accrued liabHiles

For the six months ended
March 31,
March 31,
2014
2015

$

(343)

$

$

$

(127)
1,826
(720)
836

3,001
(74)
(4,984)
(2,465)

$

(4,522)

$
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507
(215)
(741)
(2,464)
(2.933)

$

$

3,708
(159)
(4,082)
(1,192)
(1,725)
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For lhe lhree months ended
Marth 31,
Marth 31,
2015
2014
Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
affecting cash flows used in investing activities:
Ex pendii!Jres on property , plant and equipment
Expendii!Jres on Mactung property

$

116
141

$

1.096
15

For lhe six monlhs ended
Marth 31,
Marth 31,
2015
2014

$

116
141

$

1,096
15

20. Related party transactions:
Directors of the Company participated directly and indirectly in the USD$11.0 million Debentures and Convertble Debentures financing as
to USD$9.6 million (Note 10). For the six months ended March 31, 2015 the Company recognised interest expense of $0.7 million
(six months ended March 31, 2014 - $0.3 million) on these Debentures and Convertible Debentures.
During 2014 the Company executed a USD$12.0 million promissory note with Queenwood II (Note 12). During the six months ended
March 31, 2015 the Company recognised interest expense of $0.9 million (six months ended March 31, 2014- nil) on lhis Queenwood II
promissory note.
On October 24, 2014 the Company executed a promissory note with Queenwood II for up to a maximum aggregate principal amount of
USD$3.0 million (Note 12). The Company has drawn lhe full amount on the promissory note. During the six months ended March 31, 2015
the Company recognized interest expense of $0.2 million (six months ended March 31,2014- nil) on this Queenwood II note payable.
At March 31, 2015 there is $0.7 million of interest and financing costs in accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to related parties.
During the six months ended March 31, 2015 the Company recognised $0.7 miHion (s~ months ended March 31, 2014 - $0.2 million) for
professional and consuffing fees to directors or companies relaled to dwectors.
The above transactions were in the normal course of operations.
21. Financial instruments:
The Company has financial assets which include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and reclamation depcsits, the carrying
value of which approximates fair value. The Company has financial liabilities which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
equipment loans and capital leases, notes payable, customer loans, Callidus loan, debentures and the interest bearing component of the
convertible debentures, the carrying values of which may be higher than their fair value due to the Company's liquidity position (Note 1).
The Company's financial assets are measured and recognised acconJing to a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of Inputs
used in making fair value measurements, based on the lowest level of input that is signfficant to the fair value measurement, as follows:
Levell - quoted prices in active markets for Identical assets or liabilities;
Level2- inputs other than quoted prices included in Levell that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based upon observable market data.
Categories of financial instruments
The estimated fair values of the Company's financial assats and liabilities were determined based on Level 2 inputs. The Company has no
financial assets or liabilities that have fair value determined based on Level3 inputs.
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The Company has determined the estimated fair values of its financial instruments based upon appropriate valuation methodologies. The
following table shows the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities for each category of financial instruments:
Marcih 31,
2015
Financial assets
Loans and receivaiies
Cash and cash eq<Jvalents
Accoune receiv a~e
Reclamatioo deposits
Financial liabilities
Other financia/Halil#ies
Accouns pay~e and accrued lia~ilies
Callidus loan
Custcmer loans
Debenlures & converibte deberilures (inlarest bearing porion)
Equipment loans and ca(Jfalleases
Nolas pay~e
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Seplllmber 30.
2014

$

1,665
3.340
6,163

$

363
3,847
5,931

$

13,939
12,907
8,376
13,418
2,630
18,512

$

16,426
10,128
8,064
11,564

469
14,584

This is Exhibit "D" referred to in the Affidavit of
DENNIS M. LINDAHL sworn before me at Vancouver
t · 8th day of u e, 2015.
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Week 1
receivable

$

274

$

1,266

Week4
I

Week 3.

Week2

$

1,111

$

1,478

WeekS

$

1,085

Week&
I

Week&

$

1,092

$

6,307

Notes

2

3

Employee costs- mine slte
Employee costs- head office
Mining raw materials
MiH raw materials
Fuel
Equipment parts and supplies
Freight and expediting

Catering and janitorial
Tailings management and dredging
Head office costs
Other operating costs
Mill maintenance
I

(228)
(53)
(50)
(139)
(45)
(50)
(51)
(50)
(10)
(67)

(347)
(2)
(22)
(108)
(103)
(86)
(63)
(46)

(324)
(31)
(23)
(85)
(139)
(66)
(63)
(45)

(179)
(73)
(85)
(139)
(68)
(63)
(45)
(125)
(25)

Notes:
1, The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared by management of North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd.{the "Company") to set out the Company's
liquidity requirements during the 6-week period ending July 17, 2015 (the "Period"). Week 1 commences on June 9, 2015.
2. Collections of accounts receivable are estimated based on expected mine production and sales under supply agreements with the Company's two major
customers. Accounts receivable are typically collected within 5 to 10 days of shipment from the mine. Collections during the week ending June 12, 2015
are expected to be negatively Impacted by an operational disruption during the preceding week.
3. Other receipts relate to post-filing GST and fuel tax refunds.
4, Employee costs are forecast based on current run rates and adjusted to reflect staged temporary layoffs of mine employees. Payroll, benefits and source
deduction remittances are forecast to remain current during the Period.
5. Mining raw material costs are forecast based on expected production levels which reflect reduced production due to temporary layoffs of mine employees
(refer to Note 4).
B. Mill raw material costs are forecast based on expected production levels.
7. Fuel costs primarily relate to diesel used by the generators which provide power to the mine site.
a. Equipment parts and supplies costs are forecast based on current run rates, adjusted to reflect a reduction In stock on hand to approximately 30 days
worth of parts.
9. Freight and expediting costs are forecast based on expected production and sales levels.
1a. Catering and janllorial costs are estimated based on the number of employees expected to be at the mine site during the Period.
11. Tailings management and dredging includes construction of a taiUngs storage location, dredging of an existing tailings pond and construction of a
temporary dry stack plant to provide tailings capacity for continued operations.
12. Head office costs include corporate and administrative costs as well insurance and operating leases.
13. Other operating costs relate primarily to production costs at the mine site and Is based on forecast production levels. It Is estimated that many suppliers will
require cash-on-delivery or other reduced payment terms during the Period.
14. Mift maintenance comprise projects to maintain and Improve the operating efficiency and power distribution at the mine site.
15. Restructuring professional fees include the estimated costs of the Company's legal counsel, the monitor and the monitor's legal counsel.
16. Cash balance includes funds on deposit !n the Company's bank accounts at HSBC Bank Canada. The Forecast Is based on the hypotheical assumption
that the Company will be able to obtain additional borrowing capacity under its existing credit facilities to cover the projected shortfalls and/or interim
financing with a priority charge over certain assets, subject to Court approval. Related party shareholder(s) have contributed approximately $930,000
(US$745,000) during the week prior to the Period in order to fund the Company's immediate liquidity requirements.

This is Exhibit "E" referred to in the Affidavit of
DENNIS M. LINDAHL sworn before me at Vancouver
this 8th da o June, 2015.
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Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc.
400 Burrard Street
Suite 1680, Commerce Place

Vancower, BC V6C 3AG
Phone: +1 604 638 7440
Fax: +1 604 638 7441

June 4, 2015
Mr. Dennis Lindahl,
Chief Financial Officer and Director
North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd.
c/o Dentons Canada LLP
20'h Floor, 250 Howe Street
Vancouver, BC, V6C 3R8
Dear Mr. Lindahl:
North American Tungsten Corporation Ltd. (the "Company")

This letter serves to confirm the consent of the undersigned, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc., to
act as Monitor should an Order be granted by the Supreme Cou11 ofDritish Columbia in respect
of relief sought by the Company pursuant to the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S. C.
1985, c. C-36, as amended.
Yours very truly,
Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc.

www.alvarezandmarsal.com
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